2019 Annual Report

CATHOLIC EDUCATION COMMISSION OF VICTORIA LIMITED
ACN 119 459 853

Schools featured in photos
First published August 2020
Catholic Education Commission of Victoria Ltd
James Goold House
228 Victoria Parade
East Melbourne VIC 3002
www.cecv.catholic.edu.au
Correspondence to:
The Company Secretary
Catholic Education Commission of Victoria Ltd
PO Box 3
EAST MELBOURNE VIC 8002
Email: secretary@cecv.catholic.edu.au
ACN 119 459 853
ABN 92 119 459 853
ISSN 1447–4018
© Catholic Education Commission of Victoria Ltd 2020
Licensed under NEALS
The NEALS License permits Australian schools and educational
bodies to copy print and digital materials for educational use in
schools free of charge.

Catherine McAuley College, Bendigo
Holy Trinity Catholic Primary School, Sunbury
Lumen Christi School, Churchill
Nagle College, Bairnsdale
St Aloysius’ School, Queenscliff
St Brendan’s School, Coragulac
St Brigid’s College, Horsham
St Joseph’s College, Echuca
St Joseph’s School, Beechworth
St Joseph’s Primary School, Chiltern
St Mary’s School, Clarkes Hill
St Michael’s School, Tallangatta
St Monica’s College, Epping
St Patrick’s School, Port Fairy
St Patrick’s School, Gordon
St Patrick’s School, Pakenham
St Peter’s College, Cranbourne
Trinity College Colac Inc, Colac

1 | Company Members & Directors

2 | Chair’s Report

3 | Committee Reports

4 | School Achievement

5 | Awards

6 | Financial Statements

7 | Appendices

8 | Abbreviations

Contents

Letter of Transmittal

4

1. Company Members and Directors

5

2. Chair’s Report

8

3. Committee Reports

12

Audit and Risk Committee

12

Grants Allocation Committee (Primary)

13

Grants Allocation Committee (Secondary)

14

Grants Allocation Committee (Targeted Programs)

15

Employment Relations Committee

16

Review Body Committee

18

Integrated Catholic Online Network Working Group

19

Enhancing Catholic School Identity Steering Committee

19

Child Safety Working Party

21

Emergency Management Working Party

22

Salary and Conditions Board

23

4. School Achievement

24

5. Awards

27

6. Financial Statements

35

7. Appendices

56

8. Abbreviations

59

CECV Annual Report 2019

Page 3

1 | Company Members & Directors

2 | Chair’s Report

3 | Committee Reports

4 | School Achievement

5 | Awards

6 | Financial Statements

7 | Appendices

8 | Abbreviations

0 | Letter of Transmittal

Most Rev. PA Comensoli DD, Archbishop of Melbourne

Archbishop Peter, Bishops Bird and Mackinlay, and Father Peter

Most Rev. PB Bird CSsR MA DD, Bishop of Ballarat

On behalf of my fellow directors, I am pleased to present the Annual Report of the Catholic Education Commission of Victoria
Ltd (CECV) for 2019.

Most Rev. S Mackinlay DD, Bishop of Sandhurst
Very Rev. Peter Slater PP, Diocesan Administrator of Sale

The report provides details of the work of the CECV for the year. The financial statements are presented, together with reports
and information about the performance and achievements of Catholic schools in Victoria in 2019.
That our schools are delivering a high-quality Catholic education is reflected in the number of parents that trust us with their
child’s education, with nearly 210,000 students now enrolled in 497 Catholic schools across the state of Victoria. We have
opened new schools and invested in improving our existing schools so that we are equipped to continue offering diverse
learning opportunities to an increased number of Catholic students across the sector.
As the second-largest provider of schooling in Victoria, expanding and upgrading existing school facilities is essential to
increase access to education in growth and regional areas over the long term, supporting parents to choose a school that
meets their children’s needs.
The CECV successfully advocated for the Victorian Government to commit to new capital investment funding in
Catholic school capacity across Victoria, which recognises the importance of our schools in meeting the state’s growing
education demand.
My fellow directors and I are grateful for your ongoing commitment to Catholic education, and your leadership as we ensure
that our schools continue to authentically express the mission of the Church.
We recommit ourselves to working collaboratively with you, alongside our schools, parishes, religious congregations,
diocesan Catholic education personnel and many other stakeholders, for the improvement of the Victorian community.
Yours in faith

Most Rev. Terence Curtin DD STD BEd
Chair
12 August 2020
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Members

Most Rev. PA
Comensoli DD
Archbishop of
the Archdiocese
of Melbourne
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Most Rev. PB Bird
CSsR MA DD
Bishop of the
Diocese of Ballarat

Most Rev. PM O’Regan
DD
Bishop of the
Diocese of Sale

Most Rev. LR
Tomlinson DD
Bishop of the
Diocese of Sandhurst

Most Rev. Shane
Mackinlay DD
was appointed Bishop of
the Diocese of Sandhurst
on 23 July 2019 and
ordained as Bishop
of Sandhurst on
16 October 2019
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1 | Company Members & Directors
Directors

Most Rev. Terence
Curtin STD DD VG EV
(Chair)
Auxiliary Bishop
of the Archdiocese
of Melbourne

Mr Francis Moore
(Deputy Chair)

Very Rev. Peter Slater PP2
Vicar General in the
Diocese of Sale

Dr Helga Neidhart RSC
Senior Lecturer,
School of Educational
Leadership Australian
Catholic University
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1

Executive Director
Administration,
Archdiocese
of Melbourne

Mr Jim Miles
Executive Director
of Catholic Education
in the Archdiocese
of Melbourne

Ms Audrey Brown
Director of Catholic
Education in the
Diocese of Ballarat

Ms Maria Kirkwood
Director of Catholic
Education in the
Diocese of Sale

Mr Paul Desmond
Director of Catholic
Education in the
Diocese of Sandhurst

Mr Francis Moore resigned from the CECV Board effective 12 December 2019
and Archbishop Comensoli appointed Mr Tim O’Leary, Executive Director
Stewardship, Catholic Archdiocese of Melbourne, as CECV Deputy Chair and
Director on 11 February 2020.

1

Very Rev. Peter Slater PP Resigned from the CECV Board effective
December 2019. Archbishop Comensoli appointed Rev. Justin Driscoll,
Administrator of St Patrick’s Cathedral Parish Ballarat, as CECV Director
effective 6 December 2019.

2

Page 7

1 | Company Members & Directors

2 | Chair’s Report

2 | Chair’s Report

3 | Committee Reports

4 | School Achievement

5 | Awards

6 | Financial Statements

7 | Appendices

8 | Abbreviations

1 | Company Members & Directors

2 | Chair’s Report

3 | Committee Reports

4 | School Achievement

5 | Awards

6 | Financial Statements

7 | Appendices

8 | Abbreviations

2 | Chair’s Report

‘Holy Spirit, Breath of God, you come to us in the stillness and silence
of this Great South Land.
Give us the courage to open our hearts and ears, to listen to your voice
as we seek to foster the growth of your Church in Australia.’
(Australian Catholic Youth Festival 2019 prayer)
December 2019 saw more than 600 Victorian students join pilgrims from across Australia to attend the Australian Catholic
Youth Festival (ACYF) in Perth.
The experience of the students, who left the ACYF with a deeper understanding of their faith and a more personal connection
to Christ, is a reminder of the uniquely Catholic nature of the educational opportunities our schools are offering.
It reinforces the importance of the work the CECV is doing to enhance Catholic identity in our schools.

Continued excellence in learning and teaching

The CECV, supported by diocesan education offices, has worked to deliver school improvement, leadership development and
quality teaching initiatives to ensure Catholic schools continue to maintain high educational standards.
The success of these initiatives is reflected in the continuing academic achievement of our students.
I would like to take this opportunity to commend the schools and students that feature in section six of this report. The young
people and the stories of their achievements represent some of the best and brightest of our sector.
At a sector level, we continue to see strong results from NAPLAN, which tests the building blocks of learning in areas such as
writing and numeracy.
The VCE average median study score, the best indicator of overall achievement on a school-by-school basis, was higher for
Victorian Catholic schools compared with government schools – an excellent outcome.
Victoria’s Enhancing Catholic School Identity (ECSI) project continues to grow and evolve. The success of the ECSI project is
illustrated by the 2019 ECSI Survey results, which showed a strengthening of Catholic identity compared to results from 2015.
Our schools’ continued excellence in teaching and learning underpins the increasing number of parents choosing to enrol their
students in Catholic schools in many parts of Victoria.
This is reflected in the opening of two new schools in 2019, Glowrey Catholic School, Wollert, and Holy Trinity Catholic
Primary School, Sunbury. These schools will serve the growing Catholic communities in those areas and are a welcome
addition to the Catholic education community in Victoria.

CECV Annual Report 2019
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Victorian Government capital investment

In December, the CECV welcomed the Victorian Government’s commitment to invest $47 million in increasing school capacity
through the Non-Government Schools Capital Fund.
Sixteen schools from across Victoria’s metropolitan, suburban and regional areas, ranging from Cowes to Wangaratta,
will receive this important funding boost. Students in those schools will benefit from new and upgraded facilities including
reimagined learning spaces, new STEM facilities and new libraries.
This new capital funding acknowledges the incredible financial contribution made by Catholic school parents to our schools
and their facilities. It will increase access to a Catholic education for families in growth and regional areas of Victoria and
supports parents to choose a school that meets their children’s needs.
The CECV will continue to advocate for fair and equitable funding that recognises the critical role played by Catholic schools
in educating Victoria’s growing number of students.

Changes at the CECV

We welcomed Associate Professor Shane Mackinlay as the new Bishop of Sandhurst and Company Member this year,
replacing Bishop Emeritus Leslie Tomlinson. We thank Bishop Emeritus Tomlinson for his generous and diligent service to the
Diocese of Sandhurst and the mission of Catholic education in Victoria.
Proud of what it achieved in 2019, the CECV looks forward to continuing its work to promote and support the continuing
delivery of a high-quality, uniquely Catholic education in 2020 and beyond.
I would also like to take this opportunity to thank everyone involved in Catholic education. The tireless efforts and dedication
of our principals, teachers, non-teaching staff members and volunteers, alongside our parishes, priests and the staff in Catholic
education offices are greatly appreciated by our school communities. They have once again ensured that the students in our
care are educated academically, holistically and spiritually.
Catholic education is well placed to grow and develop into the future with this continued high level of commitment.
Yours in faith

Most Rev. Terence Curtin DD STD BEd
Chair
12 August 2020
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Audit and Risk Committee
Membership

Mr Francis Moore, CECV Director (Chair)
Mr Jim Miles, CECV Executive Director
Mr David Bristow, External representative
Mr John Hurren, External representative

Attendees

Mr David Wilkes, Director and Chief Finance Officer,
Business Advisory Services, CEM
Ms Helen Zeeuwe, Manager, Finance –
School Accounting & Compliance, CEM

Role and activities

The Audit and Risk Committee (ARC) assists the Board
in monitoring the decisions and actions of the Catholic
Education Commission of Victoria Ltd (CECV) through
its oversight of the integrity of the financial statements
and the effectiveness of the systems of internal control
and risk management. In performing this role the ARC
focuses on the appointment, remuneration, performance,
and independence of external and internal auditors;
the integrity of the audit processes as a whole; the
effectiveness of the systems of internal control and
risk management; compliance with legal and statutory
requirements; and compliance by management with
Board delegations. The ARC met four times during 2019.
The Committee’s major work was directed towards:
• the integrity of financial statements and government
grant acquittals
The ARC evaluated the appropriateness of accounting
policies and practices, compliance with Accounting
Standards and the results of the external audit.
It reviewed the annual financial statements and
recommended their adoption to the Board. In addition
to the statutory financial reports, the ARC also
reviewed, with management, the acquittal of Australian
CECV Annual Report 2019

and state government recurrent and targeted program
grants for the Victorian Catholic education system
in accordance with its legislative requirements and
funding agreements. These also align with the Australian
Curriculum, Assessment and Reporting Authority
(ACARA) My School finance data reporting requirements
that are derived from the Department of Education,
Skills and Employment financial questionnaire.
• managing the relationship with the external auditor
The ARC continued its independent, professional
relationship with Deloitte Touché Tohmatsu (Deloitte)
through the external audit cycle – from planning the
audit to the receipt of the financial accounts and
management letter.
• managing the relationship with the internal auditor
The ARC continued an independent, professional
relationship with KPMG through the internal audit process.
• ensuring the effectiveness of the systems of internal
control and risk management
The ARC is responsible for reviewing internal controls
and risk management systems. To this end, the ARC:
» received the unqualified external audit service plan
from Deloitte in relation to the CECV audit for the
period ended 31 December 2019
» reviewed school audit reports for those with qualified
audit opinions (nil in 2019)
» monitored the CECV’s risk reporting protocols
to ensure risk identification, measurement and
mitigation activities are accurately and appropriately
reported via the CECV risk register
» reviewed the CECV risk management framework
» reviewed the insurance policies held for the CECV
» received reports from KPMG for the following internal
audit projects:
a. emergency management
b. Grants Allocation Committee (Secondary)

c. Integrated Catholic Online Network (ICON)
program governance
d. census process
» received and reviewed updates to ensure compliance
with the Australian Charities and Not-for-profits
Commission (ACNC)
» reviewed the terms of reference and annual work plan
for the ARC that were presented and endorsed by
the CECV Board
» complied with legal and statutory requirements
to ensure the CECV met its obligations under the
various legislative requirements and federal and state
government funding arrangements.
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Grants Allocation Committee (Primary)
Membership

Mr Jim Miles, CECV Executive Director (Chair)
Ms Audrey Brown, CECV Director
Mr Paul Desmond, CECV Director
Ms Maria Kirkwood, CECV Director
Mr David Wilkes, Director and Chief Financial Officer,
Business Advisory Services, CEM
Ms Julie Duynhoven, Assistant Director,
Finance and Administration, CEO Ballarat
Mr Rodney Kwok, Chief Financial Officer, CEO Sale
Mr Ben Higgins, Assistant to the Director,
Finance & Resources, CEO Sandhurst
Ms Helen Zeeuwe, Manager, Finance
(School Accounting & Compliance), CEM

Role and activities

The Grants Allocation Committee (Primary) (GAC(P)) is the
approved CECV authority for the distribution of recurrent
grants to all Catholic primary schools in Victoria.
The CECV receives recurrent grants from the Australian
and state governments. The GAC(P) recommends
principles of allocation based on a primary school’s
assessed needs after deducting notional fees and
other recurrent income, referred to as ‘capacity to
contribute’ (CtC).
The committee met four times during 2019 and managed
a budget of $1,420m in funding to a total of 396 primary
schools (including two primary schools with secondary
classes). This included $75.0m for low socioeconomic
status (SES) schools, and an increase of $12.7m (20%)
in comparison to 2018. The budget also included Health
Care Card support of $31.1m, and $11.6m provided to
schools in the form of interest factor support. Contributions
were also made to GAC(TP) for funding reallocations to
GAC(P) member schools, including:
• $2.8m for Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islanders (A&TSI)
(an increase of 3.7%)
• $3.1m for Student and Family Engagement
(an increase of 3%)
• $22.2m for Literacy and Numeracy (an increase of 1.4%)
• $5.7m for the Refugee strategy (a similar figure to 2018)
• $2.5m for the Languages strategy Speak Up!
(an increase of 2.2%)
• the Nationally Consistent Collection of Data on School
Students with Disability (NCCD), including $139.7m
for students with disabilities – an increase of $50m
(55%) in funding in comparison to 2018. The GAC(P)
determined that assistance to the NCCD program would
be increased to ensure these funds more adequately
met the needs of integrated students. $135.6m was
distributed to schools directly for 2019.
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Ongoing analysis of socioeconomic scores (SES) was
conducted in relation to the CtC funding requirements of the
Australian Government. The main issue is in regard to the
calculation of individual schools’ CtC, which was discussed
with the National Catholic Education Commission (NCEC)
and the Australian Government, with an agreement for a
fairer measure to be implemented. The direct measure of
income (DMI) methodology has been confirmed to replace
SES scores and is to be applied from 2020 onwards.
The National Schools Resourcing Board (NSRB), established
in 2017, continued to provide greater independent oversight
of Australian Government funding and SES.
The CECV funding guide Allocating government grants
to Catholic schools in Victoria was reviewed in 2019 to
meet regulatory requirements and provide information on
the processes and formulae used by the CECV to allocate
government grants. The guide is available on the CECV
website www.cecv.catholic.edu.au under Publications and
provides a summary as well as descriptive and high-level
information. The guide covers capital grants and recurrent
grants and also highlights the extensive accountabilities
and transparency reporting requirements.
Data on individual school allocations are available on
ACARA’s My School website.
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Grants Allocation Committee (Secondary)
Membership

Ms Maria Kirkwood, CECV Director (Chair)
Ms Julie Duynhoven, Assistant Director of Catholic
Education, CEO Ballarat
Mr Ben Higgins, Assistant to the Director, CEO Sandhurst
Mr Michael Maye, Manager, Planning, Building & Finance,
CEO Sale (resigned February 2019)
Mr Rodney Kwok, Chief Financial Officer, CEO Sale
(appointed May 2019)
Mr David Wilkes, Director and Chief Financial Officer, CEM
Ms Julie Ryan, Regional Director, Marist Schools Australia
Mr Eugene Lynch, Executive Officer, Mercy Education Ltd
Mr John Finn, Principal, St Bede’s College, Mentone
Mrs Mary Fitzgerald, Principal, Mater Christi College,
Belgrave
Mr John Freeman, Principal, Lavalla Catholic College,
Traralgon
Ms Michelle Cotter, Principal, Avila College, Mount Waverley
Mr Peter Riordan, Principal, Simonds Catholic College,
West Melbourne
Mr Christopher Caldow, Principal, Penola Catholic
College, Glenroy
Mr Darren Tan, Business Partner Lead, Secondary,
CEM (non-voting service member)
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Role and activities

The Grants Allocation Committee (Secondary) (GAC(S))
is the approved CECV authority for the distribution of
recurrent grants to systemically-funded secondary schools.
The CECV receives recurrent grants from the Australian
and state governments, in which the GAC(S) then
redistributes to member schools on a needs-based funding
formula. The GAC(S) formula for 2019 was approved by
GAC(S) during 2015, after work completed by the Funding
Formula Review Group.
This formula uses, as its base, the School Resourcing Standard
(SRS) per pupil, to which is added needs-based loadings as
specified by the Australian Education Act 2013 (Cth).
A school’s capacity to contribute is taken into account as
well as co-responsibility, shared services and targeted area
deductions. Specific allocations (Health Care Card and
interest factors) are added back to the total to determine
state and federal grants for each school.
Other forms of funding allocated by the committee are:
• a school’s interest factor, which is calculated according
to the interest factor policy of the GAC(S), and was
last updated in February 2018. For approved loans,
the interest factor from 2016 was dependent upon
when the loan commenced drawing down. If the loan
commenced drawing down before 1 January 2016,
a rate of 5% is applied. If the loan commenced drawing
down after this date, then a rate of 1.5% above the
average RBA cash rate for the prior year (3.0% for
2019) is applied
• the Health Care Card (HCC) factor, which is based
on eligible HCC holders and enables schools to offer
enrolment to a broader range of students from all
socioeconomic backgrounds. The HCC factor in 2019
represented a payment of $2,590 per secondary
student and $1,677 per primary student

• establishment grants, also known as the ‘assistance
to new schools allocation’, which provide additional
systemic funding to new schools (and campuses
required due to enrolment growth) in their first five years.
The GAC(S) committee met six times during 2019.
The GAC(S) managed a budget for 2019 of
$1,221,581,639 (after deductions including a capacity
to contribute factor of $389,977,294). This included
$13,799,987 provided to schools for approved interest
factor support and $34,287,193 for the HCC factor.
The GAC(TP) received an allocation of $20,995,047 for
students with disabilities and other targeted areas funding.

Key GAC(S) items and decisions in 2019
The key items and decisions for GAC(S) were:

• Transitional realignment (TR) parameter and timeline
a. The committee endorsed the formation of a working
party to review the proposed new parameter for
contributions by schools towards the transitional
realignment pool from 2020 onwards.
b. A new parameter was decided on in the May 2019
meeting, where contributions by GAC(S) member
schools towards the transitional realignment pool
are based on the percentage increase in per-student
funding multiplied by the number of students.
• 2020 funding guarantees
a. Schools with an SES of 105 and below
Lower SES schools will be provided with a 3%
minimum indexation per student guarantee,
which excludes the following funding elements:
1. NCCD SWD funding
2. HCC funding
3. Interest factor support
4. New schools support funding.
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Grants Allocation Committee (Targeted Programs)
b. Schools with an SES of 106 and above
Higher SES schools may receive a per-student
funding decrease. However, additional funding will be
provided to these schools if the secondary funding
formula calculates a larger decrease compared to the
SRS model provided by the government.
c. Transitional realignment maximum for low-enrolment
schools (<500 students)
» To alleviate the burden to low-enrolment GAC(S)
member schools, the committee approved
setting a maximum of $500 per student transition
realignment (TR) contribution for schools with an
enrolment of less than 500 students.
» In line with this, immediate TR relief funding was
also provided in September 2019 to four lowenrolment schools (totalling $906,000) to assist
with their 2019 TR contribution obligations.
• 2020 SES score to be applied
To provide schools with greater certainty around their
SES score in 2020, GAC(S) will guarantee their score
to be the lower of:
a. their actual direct measure of income (DMI) score, or
b. their CECV SES* score, or their 2016 and 2011
census-derived SES scores.

*The CECV SES score, a derivative of the earlier-released DMI estimated
scores plus adjustment, was formulated to allow earlier adoption by GAC(S)
member schools – especially those negatively impacted from the use of the
flawed SES methodology.

• NCCD 2019 compared to NCCD 2018
The 2019 Nationally Consistent Collection of Data on
School Students with Disability (NCCD) data analysis
summary was presented to GAC(S) with the following
key points:
a. an overall increase of 0.9% in the NCCD
funding amount from the federal government,
compared to 2018
b. the average composition of funded NCCD students
was 11.3% for 2019.
CECV Annual Report 2019

Membership

Ms Audrey Brown, CECV Director (Chair)
Ms Judy Connell, Manager, Learning Diversity,
CEM (Executive Officer)
Mr David Wilkes, Director and Chief Finance officer,
Business Advisory Services, CEM
Dr Mary Oski, Director, Leadership Services, CEM
Ms Sandra Harvey, Assistant Director,
System Improvement, CEO Ballarat
Ms Julie Duynhoven, Assistant Director,
Finance & Administration, CEO Ballarat
Ms Catherine Dillon, Deputy Director,
Learning & Teaching, CEO Sandhurst
Mr Ben Higgins, Assistant to the Director,
Finance & Resources, CEO Sandhurst
Mr Martin Keogh, Manager, Learning and Teaching,
CEO Sale
Ms Shirley Gauci, Catholic Religious Victoria
(CRV) Representative
Mr Rodney Kwok, Chief Financial Officer CEO Sale
Ms Mishele Allen, Executive Assistant, Learning Services,
CEM (Minutes Secretary)

Attendees

Dr Simon Lindsay, Manager,
Improved Learning Outcomes, CEM
Mr Dennis Torpy, Manager, Student Wellbeing, CEM
Mr Daniel Nguyen, Manager, Finance and Information
Management, CEM

Roles and activities

The Grants Allocation Committee (Targeted Programs)
(GAC(TP)) is the approved authority for the receipt and
distribution of targeted area funding from the Australian
and state governments to Victorian Catholic primary
and secondary schools. The GAC(TP) is responsible for
determining the distribution model for each targeted
program (including central costs) and whether the program
is state-wide or diocesan-based.
The GAC(TP) provides advice on the administration of
targeted programs policy and advice and associated grants
in accordance with Australian Government legislation.
The GAC(TP) processes are audited against the Australian
Education Act 2013 (Cth), and/or Victorian Government
legislation and funding, and funding service agreements
(FSA) entered into by the CECV and the Victorian
Government Department of Education and Training (DET).
The GAC(TP) meets at least five times per year, including
a designated meeting to discuss the budgets for the
following year, and reports to the CECV Board.

Responsibilities

The GAC(TP) is responsible for:
• determining the distribution model for targeted
programs and whether the program is state-wide
or based on a diocesan share calculation
• ensuring with GAC(P) and GAC(S) that the CECV
meets its financial and educational accountability for
each targeted program to the Australian and Victorian
governments, and for allocations approved by GAC(P)
and GAC(S) to be administered by GAC(TP)
• ensuring the equitable distribution of targeted recurrent
funding to Catholic schools in Victoria
• assigning an area manager to each of the CECV
targeted areas to manage the operations of the specific
targeted program, including the development of
program implementation advice for schools
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Employment Relations Committee
• reviewing recommendations and submissions by the
relevant area managers or working groups of a targeted
program requesting additional funding from GAC(P)
and/or GAC(S) for their approval
• reviewing the actual financial results for the targeted
programs administered by GAC(TP) against the
budgeted figures on a quarterly basis
• ensuring that Catholic schools in Victoria are adequately
resourced to meet the educational objectives of the
Australian and state governments
• ensuring that Catholic schools in Victoria have
relevant program and policy advice required for local
implementation.

Structure

The GAC(TP) comprises nine working groups:
• Students with Disabilities (NCCD/Student
Support Services)
• New arrivals/EAL students and refugees
• Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander students (A&TSI)
• Student wellbeing
• National School Chaplaincy Program
• Out-of-home care
• Vocational Education and Training (VET)/Victorian
Certificate of Applied Learning (VCAL)
• Languages
• Literacy/Numeracy.

Membership

Ms Maria Kirkwood, CECV Director (Chair)
Ms Kate Roberts, Acting Manager, Employee Relations,
CEM representative (Executive Officer from October 2019)
Ms Alicia Tuohey, Group Manager, People and Culture,
CEM (Executive Officer until October 2019)
Ms Nancy Bicchieri, General Legal Counsel, CEM
(non-voting member)
Ms Audrey Brown, CECV Director
Rev. Marcello Colasante, Parish Priest, North Ballarat
and Wendouree (Ballarat employer representative)
Rev. Andrew Fewings, Parish Priest, St Therese’s,
Kennington (Sandhurst employer representative)
Mr Christopher Houlihan, Chief Executive Officer, Mercy
Education (The Catholic Religious Institute and Ministerial
Public Juridic Person Victorian Schools representative)
Mr John Jordan, Executive Manager, Industrial Relations
and Human Resources (CEO Sale representative)
Mr Kevin Lawlor, Assistant to the Director, CEO
Sandhurst (CEO Sandhurst representative)
Mr David Leslie, Principal, Mary MacKillop Catholic
Regional College, Leongatha (Principals Association
of Victorian Catholic Secondary Schools representative)
Ms Debra Punton, Deputy Director, CEO Sale
(CEO Sale representative)

Role and activities

The Employment Relations Committee (ERC) is
accountable to the CECV Board for setting the overall
policy context and framework for industrial relations
within the Victorian Catholic school system. It makes
recommendations relating to the pay and conditions of
employees in the Victorian Catholic education system
to the CECV Board.
The ERC acts to represent the interests of employers
in Catholic education by:
• monitoring the nature and quality of services offered by
the Employee Relations Unit
• providing a forum and giving direction to those directly
negotiating with the Independent Education Union
Victoria Tasmania (IEU) on behalf of employers
• assisting in advising employers in Catholic education
about matters relating to the employment of staff
• overseeing changes that may need to be negotiated
and built into the current industrial instrument as a result
of changes in legislation and regulations
• preparing and making resources available for employers
The ERC held eight meetings during 2019, with one
meeting held on the papers.
The ER Unit, under the direction of the ERC, continued to
provide industrial relations and occupational health and
safety (OHS) services to Catholic schools across Victoria
under a Service Level Agreement with the CECV.

Mr Michael Pountney, CEM representative
Members of the CECV Employee Relations (ER)
Unit attended as required.
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Victorian Catholic Education Multi-enterprise
Agreement 2018 implementation

During 2019, the ER Unit produced a number of new
resources to assist schools in the implementation
of the Victorian Catholic Education Multi-enterprise
Agreement (VCMEA) 2018. These resources have included
implementation guides, policy templates and information
sheets. The ER Unit also delivered a range of in-service
training for principals and school staff to assist schools in
the implementation of the VCEMEA 2018.

NOUS Workload Review Working Party

Following on from receiving the NOUS Workload Review
Report in 2018, the CECV and the IEU agreed to establish
a joint working party to review the report and to consider
ways in which to address identified issues relating
to teacher, principal and deputy principal workloads.
A representative from the ER Unit coordinated the work
of this working party.
During 2019, the working party commenced operation
and the report was released to schools along with
consultation materials.

Occupational Health and Safety and WorkCover

The OHS Reference Group is a consultative forum
established by the ERC to discuss state-wide OHS and
WorkCover issues in Catholic schools in order to facilitate
communication of, and solutions to, those issues. The ER
Unit coordinated four meetings of the OHS Reference
Group in 2019.
OHS activities undertaken by the ER Unit in 2019 included:
• conducting school safety assessments at 104 schools,
assisting schools in preparations for the Victorian
Registrations and Qualifications Authority’s (VRQA)
minimum standards reviews

CECV Annual Report 2019

• facilitating 15 training sessions throughout Victoria
on topics including OHS for school leaders, returnto-work coordination, workers’ compensation and
risk management
• commencing two new training offerings – WorkCover
101 (introductory/update session in general
WorkCover matters) and the Risk Management for
Schools Workshop
• revising existing CECV website resources and
incorporating additional advisory material in key
areas of risk, including updating risk assessment,
safety assessment and policy/procedure templates to
improve useability
• in-depth involvement at the school level in managing
complex issues and challenging behaviours.

• provided advice to the CECV regarding changes
implemented under the VCEMEA 2018, including in
relation to long service leave
• continued work in supporting the CECV Salary and
Conditions Board to develop and consult on a proposal for
a revised classification structure for secondary principals
• delivered numerous training sessions for principals and
school staff on various employee relations matters
• established the Catholic Education Office (CEO)
Classification Structure Working Party and coordinated the
work of the CECV Nous Workload Review Working Party.

Consultancy

Throughout 2019, the ER Unit continued to provide a
consultancy service to employers, principals and Catholic
education offices. The ER Unit dealt with requests for
advice that ranged from queries about salary assessments
and leave entitlements to complex matters involving
performance management and termination of employment.

Advocacy and legal representation

In 2019, the ER Unit continued to provide assistance to
schools through advocacy and legal representation in
matters before the Fair Work Commission and the federal
court. The ER Unit also supported schools to reach agreed
negotiated outcomes during and following a number of
complex litigious matters.

Other initiatives

In addition, in 2019, the ER Unit:
• formulated a number of new resources in relation to the
VCEMEA 2018, as well as guidance materials to assist
stakeholders with their reporting and/or legal obligations
to various regulatory bodies/under legislative schemes
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Review Body Committee
Membership

Mr Paul Desmond, CECV Director (Chair)
Ms Trish Miller, Assistant to the Director, Planning,
Resources & Governance, CEO Sandhurst
Ms Mary Oski, Director, Learning Services, CEM
Dr Sandra Harvey, Assistant Director:
System Improvement, CEO Ballarat
Ms Deb Punton, Deputy Director, Catholic Identity,
Learning and Teaching, CEO Sale
Mr Damien Casamento, Principal, St Paul’s School,
Sunshine West, Victorian Association of Catholic Primary
School Principals Inc. (VACPSP) Representative
Mr Brian Hanley, Principal, St Monica’s College, Epping,
Principals’ Association of Victorian Catholic Secondary
Schools (PAVCSS) Representative
Mr Bernard Dobson, Executive Officer/Company
Secretary, Catholic Religious Institute and Ministerial Public
Juridic Persons, Representative
Fr Brendan Reed, Parish Priest nominated by the
CECV Board

CECV Annual Report 2019

Role and activities

The CECV Review Body Committee (RBC) was established
to ensure that the CECV continues to fulfil its responsibilities
as a review body according to the requirements of the
Victorian Registration and Qualifications Authority (VRQA).
These requirements are set out in a Memorandum of
Understanding (MoU) between the VRQA and the CECV.
The relationship with the VRQA continues to be cooperative
and positive, with meetings held during the year as
needed to discuss particular topics or compliance-related
matters. The RBC strives to support Catholic schools with
clear, accurate and timely information to assist schools
to understand and meet their regulatory compliance
requirements. The RBC met four times during 2019.
The committee’s main achievements included:

• submitting applications to the VRQA for the registration
of new schools and the amendment of the registration
of existing schools
• providing compliance reports to the VRQA by the due
date in accordance with the MoU.

• reviewing the MoU, which was finalised during 2019
after a lengthy period of consultation between the
VRQA and the CECV. The main change is the additional
requirement for CECV to report on complaints related
to the minimum standards in the CECV’s Annual
Compliance Report
• conducting research into streamlining the Annual
Report to the School Community process to enhance
efficiencies. Suitable providers of online platforms were
identified and tenders requested for the implementation
of an automated workflow process during 2020,
in readiness for use in 2021
• holding a school reviewer training day on compliance
with the minimum standards, which involved staff and
school reviewers from all dioceses
• maintaining a schedule of periodic school reviews to
ensure that all Victorian Catholic schools are reviewed
for compliance against the minimum standards
• continuing promotion of the importance of compliance
with the minimum standards through regular
communication, updates and development of resources
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Integrated Catholic Online Network Working Group

Enhancing Catholic School Identity
Steering Committee

Membership

Membership

Mr Jim Miles, CECV Executive Director (Chair)
Ms Audrey Brown, Director Catholic Education Ballarat,
CECV Director
Mr Paul Desmond, Director Catholic Education
Sandhurst, CECV Director
Ms Maria Kirkwood, Director Catholic Education Sale,
CECV Director
Mr Simon Mitchell-Wong, Director and
Chief Digital Officer, CEM
Mr David Wilkes, Director and Chief Finance Officer, CEM
Mr Tom Lindeman, Principal, Victorian Association
of Catholic Primary Principals Inc. (VACPSP)
Representative
Mr Darren Atkinson, Principals’ Association of Victorian
Catholic Secondary Schools (PAVCSS) Representative
Mr David Bristow, Independent Business Consultant,
CECV Audit and Risk Committee member
Mr Paul Williams, Congregational Leaders Representative

Attendees

Mr Philip Roe, ICON Chief Information Officer, CEM
Mr Ian Johnston, ICON Program Manager, CEM
Mrs Kaye Byrne, ICON Business/Stakeholder
Liaison Manager, CEM
Mr Ken Fox, Battiston Consulting
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Role and activities

The CECV, as advised by the CECV Integrated Catholic
Online Network (ICON) Working Group, is the authority
responsible for delivery of the ICON project. The ICON
initiative is a collaborative project between Victorian
Catholic schools and the four Victorian Catholic education
offices in the Archdiocese of Melbourne and the dioceses
of Ballarat, Sale and Sandhurst. ICON aims to support the
systemic improvement of all Victorian Catholic schools in
both administrative and school performance domains.
The ICON Working Group met five times in 2019
to consider detailed ICON strategies and services.
This included the execution of ICON contracts,
oversight of the ICON project budget, project risk
mitigation strategies, ICON implementation strategies
and timeline and stakeholder communications.
Significant work in 2019 included the endorsement of:
• the progressive rollout (and monitoring) of ICON eAdmin
to an additional 55 schools, bringing the total number
of schools on ICON eAdmin to 92
• the 2019 school health check
• the three-year roadmap
• status updates from the eLearn Steering Committee
in relation to the work being planned to realise the
benefits of knowledge-sharing through the building of
communities of practice
• the 2019 communication framework and contents
• the framework for engaging third-party vendors under
the API project.

Rev. Brendan Reed, Parish Priest Representative (Chair)
Dr Paul Sharkey, Director Catholic Leadership, CEM
Ms Maria Kirkwood, Director Catholic Education Sale,
CECV Director
Mr Tony Byrne, Consultant,
Catholic Education Services, CEM
Mr Leon Colla, Principal, St Mary of the Cross, Point
Cook, Nominee of Victorian Association Catholic Primary
School Principals (VACPSP)
Ms Karen Jebb, Principal, Genazzano FCJ College,
Kew, Nominee of Principal Association Victorian Catholic
Secondary Schools (PAVCSS)
Mr John Meneely, Deputy Director, Catholic Education
Ballarat
Sr Geraldine Larkins RSM, Deputy Director,
Mission & Identity, Catholic Education Sandhurst
Mr Paul Fumei, Education Officer, Religious Education, CEM
Ms Leeanne Hounsell, CEM (Minutes Secretary)
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Role and activities

There was also a Victorian inter-diocesan day, covering the
most appropriate pedagogies for Religious Education, with
one case study presented by school leaders, featuring one
school from each diocese.

The new SLA maintains core elements present in earlier
contracts, such as:
• KU Leuven’s facilitation of the annual survey research
in schools
• provision of the ECSI Standard Report to all school
principals following their community’s completion of the
ECSI Survey
• Annotated Reports and qualitative research offered as
an Opt-in ECSI Service.
Highlights of the new SLA include:
• application of the new Searching for Parish Engagement
Scale (SPES) about the identity of Catholic parishes –
opt-in basis – conducted alongside the ECSI research
in schools
• the support of the Australian ECSI Professional Learning
Consortium (AEPLC) to the Prayer Renewal Project,
which will develop classroom tools and process for an
enhanced culture of Catholic prayer.
The ECSI Committee’s main activity during 2019 was
hosting the Victorian phase of the visit to Australia by
Prof Dr Didier Pollefeyt and Dr Jan Bouwens. Highlights
of their program in Melbourne included presentations on:
• aggregated data comparing 2019 with 2011, which
showed clearly that secularisation is not inevitable
• the ten draft criteria for prayer. These draft criteria were
reviewed by a team within the Catholic Leadership Team
at Catholic Education Melbourne (CEM), with various
recommendations being made to the broader AEPLC
• the six new questions for the Post Critical Belief Scale
which replace a more complex and longer series of
questions and will, from 2020, be made available to all
survey respondents.

In 2019, 131 Catholic primary and secondary schools across
Victoria participated in the ECSI Survey round, with 91 of
these being Melbourne schools. All 131 schools received
the new ECSI Standard Report inclusive of ‘data over time’.
This ‘data over time’ was, and continues to be, instrumental
in illustrating the strength of Catholic identity between two
quadrennial survey rounds (e.g. 2015 and 2019).

On 1 August 2019, the CECV and the Catholic University
Leuven (KU Leuven) entered into a new service level
agreement (SLA), which will conclude on 31 July 2023.
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Of increasing importance for the system and schools is the
move from data to action for improved school effectiveness
– an understanding that action and not data alone,
effects change.
An issue generating considerable discussion in 2019 was
the number of schools under review using the National
School Improvement Tool (NSIT by ACER), with no specific
reference to the Catholicity of a school. Discussions
resulted in a commitment by Catholic Education Melbourne
to ensure the use of the School Improvement Framework
(SIF) Rubric, regardless of the model for review employed.
The Religious Dimension within the rubric asks schools to
pay very specific attention to Religious Leadership, Praying
and Celebrating, and Witness for Mission and Learning.

demonstrating that these young people are able to reflect
more deeply on their faith. Positively, they perceive more
traits of the Catholic Dialogue School model compared to
in 2011. This can be illustrated by the increase in these
students’ understanding of what it is to be in the world and
a person of faith (scores for Recontextualisation moved
from 4.40/7 to 4.78/7).
The secularising patterns among secondary school
students improved. When comparing 2011 and 2019 data,
the negative trend change to shift in a positive direction.
The unbelieving attitude of External Critique made a
significant downfall (3.39/7 to 2.94/7). Secondary school
students confirmed that the Catholic identity of their
colleges has become a little more noticeable in the past
few years.
Overall, there was empirical evidence for the shift towards
a Catholic Dialogue School. Compared to where schools
might have been without it, the Enhancing Catholic School
Identity project is making a significant impact on a stronger
Catholic school identity. Our task continues to be about
upholding the momentum generated during the period
of this comparison and to continue to work with school
communities in order to promote and accelerate this shift,
shaping the present and the future of Catholic education
in Melbourne.

The year 2019 finished well with data showing that
secularisation is not inevitable. Highlights from the metaanalysis comparing 2019 survey data with 2011 survey
data reflect a stronger Catholic identity.
In examining the results of the combined staff, it was
concluded that schools have become more dialogical in their
approach. Rather than seeing ‘Catholic identity slippage’, the
staff observed a stronger presence of Catholic identity in their
schools compared to seven years ago.
Primary schools did not become more secular. The results
of the primary school students showed positive trends,
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Child Safety Working Party
Membership

Mr Dennis Torpy, Manager, Student Wellbeing Unit, CEM
(Chairperson)
Dr Lina Di Paolo, Team Leader, Student Wellbeing Unit, CEM
Ms Elina Raso, Senior Project Lead, Child Safety,
Student Wellbeing, CEM
Mr Lee Schlooz, Educational Consultant (Primary),
CEO Ballarat
Ms Susan Renn, Student Wellbeing and Youth Services
Officer, CEO Ballarat
Ms Fiona Pike, Project Officer Wellbeing, CEO Ballarat
Mr Oronzo Farina, Education Consultant (Secondary),
Child Protection Officer, CEO Sale
Ms Lauren Bourke, Psychologist, CEO Sale
Ms Shard Goodwin, Employment Relations Adviser,
CEO Sale
Mr Kevin Lawlor, Assistant to the Director:
Legal, Industrial & Human Resources, CEO Sandhurst
Ms Frances Browne, Assistant to the Director:
Pastoral Wellbeing, CEO Sandhurst
Dr Katherine Levi, Director Professional Standards Unit,
Archdiocese of Melbourne

Context

The Catholic Education Commission of Victoria Ltd (CECV)
holds the care, safety and wellbeing of children and young
people as a central and fundamental responsibility of
Catholic education.
At state level, Ministerial Order No. 870, gazetted in
January 2016, sets out the Victorian Child Safe Standardrelated requirements for school registration. This Order
took effect from 1 August 2016.
Throughout 2019, the Catholic sector continued to place
the highest priority on effective implementation of the Order
across Catholic school communities, with the CECV Board
maintaining a proactive role in ensuring an integrated,
collaborative and unified response.
CECV Annual Report 2019

The Child Safety Working Party, established by the CECV
Board in 2015, continues to meet each quarter, focusing
its strategic efforts on supporting school leaders to drive
cultural change and to continuously improve their child
safety and wellbeing strategies and practices.
The CECV and the working party recognise that child
safety reform is not static but rather long-term and evolving
work, responsive to new evidence and learnings. In 2019,
in line with its terms of reference, the working party
developed and made available further significant support
to schools including policy updates, new resources and
guidelines, website materials and pilot projects.
The working party also continued to work directly with
the other education sectors and the Victorian Registration
and Qualifications Authority (VRQA) to ensure crosssectoral collaboration and integration of Catholic sector
perspectives in projects, research and resources.

•

•

•

Roles and activities

Key activities of the Child Safety Working Party included:
• the development of a formal CECV submission to the
Victorian Government review of the Victorian Child Safe
Standards (CSS) addressing:
» implementation and effectiveness of the CSS
» compliance with and regulation of the CSS
» benefits and challenges of national harmonisation of
CSS in line with the National Principles for Child Safe
Organisations
• building school capacity, through local level initiatives,
to effectively implement the cross-sectoral PROTECT
protocol Identifying and responding to all forms of
abuse in Victorian schools (August 2018 edition).
This version includes reporting obligations for governing
authorities, principals and school staff on:
» the reportable conduct scheme
» organisational duty of care

•

» obligations under the Charter of Human Rights
and Responsibilities
» identifying neglect and family violence
redesigning and regularly updating the Child Safety
page on the CEVN website to support schools with
deeper implementation of the CSS and links to national
developments, emerging research, facilitator guides and
material for school-based professional learning
partnering with the CECV Review Body Committee
to monitor the child safety compliance process within
the 2019 review cycle, including child safety training
for school reviewers and identifying emerging areas
of challenge for schools. (The sector’s school review
processes incorporate a rigorous on-site child safety
assessment, requiring leaders to demonstrate evidence
of their compliance with Ministerial Order No. 870)
cooperating with the Victorian Auditor-General’s Office
(VAGO), regarding its audit of school compliance with
Victoria’s CSS. The audit considered the adequacy of
the regulator’s school registration framework to ensure
school compliance with the CSS. As part of VAGO’s
audit processes, information on guidance material and
review arrangements was sought from the CECV and
other education sectors
keeping abreast of state-level developments related
to the inclusion of schools in the Phase 2 Child
Information Sharing Scheme (CISS) (applicable from
September 2020) – a parallel, related reform with
implications within the child safety space. The working
party participated in the Catholic sector consultation to
inform the Regulatory Impact Statement (RIS), alongside
representative principals and school leaders across
all dioceses.
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Emergency Management Working Party
Membership

Mrs Megan Ioannou, Director, Planning and Infrastructure,
CEM (Chair)
Mr Harry Allard, Executive Officer, Emergency
Management Officer, Infrastructure and Capital Funding,
CEM
Mr Fergus Chisholm, Manager, Infrastructure
and Capital Funding, CEM
Mr Rob Aron, Regional General Manager,
Western Region, CEM
Ms Marwin Austerberry, Regional General Manager,
Eastern Region, CEM
Ms Debra Egan, Regional General Manager,
Southern Region, CEM
Mr Michael Maye, Manager, Planning, Building & Finance,
CEO Sale (from 19 February to 1 October 2019)
Mr Darren McDonnell, Building Infrastructure Officer,
CEO Sale (from 1 October 2019)
Mr John Mills, Regional General Manager,
Northern Region, CEM
Mr Simon O’Brien, Planning, Risk & Compliance Officer,
CEO Ballarat
Ms Marianne O’Rourke, School Leadership Consultant:
Primary, CEO Sale
Mr Peter Kerwan, Manager, HR and ICON, CEO Ballarat
Mr Kevin Lawlor, Assistant to the Director, Legal,
Industrial & Human Resources, CEO Sandhurst
Mr Rob Papworth, CEO Property Manager/Planning
Officer, CEO Sandhurst
Mr Michael Stewart, Team Leader Occupational
Health & Safety, CEM
Ms Nanette Sweeney, Administration Assistant,
Planning and Infrastructure, CEM (Minutes Secretary)
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Roles and activities

Members of the Emergency Management Working Party
(EMWP) provide policy advice, guidance and regular
reports to the CECV Board on emergencies in schools and
associated matters.
The EMWP met four times during 2019, giving all members
an opportunity to share information and knowledge in
regard to specific incidents and issues throughout the
four dioceses. Throughout 2019 the EMWP continued to
build strong relationships with the Victorian Government
Department of Education and Training (DET), Security
and Emergency Management Division (SEMD) and
Emergency Management Victoria (EMV) in the state-wide
planning and implementation of emergency management
within the education sector.
While each school has overall responsibility and control
of emergency response and recovery activity, the EMWP
provides support, guidance and resources to schools on
planning, response and recovery in emergencies through
the respective diocesan Catholic education offices.
Significant works in 2019 included:
• the four Catholic education offices (CEOs) receiving and
issuing 197 warnings and alerts notices to schools of
which a low number required some ongoing support to
minimise the threat or disruption to schools
• overseeing and effecting the delivery of 1001 incident
warnings and alerts authorised by the DET to
Catholic schools
• the Emergency Management Commissioner (EMV),
Mr Andrew Crisp (AC), attending as a guest speaker at
the CECV EMWP meeting on 18 June 2019
• coordinating the closures of four schools in the Gippsland
district due to threatening bushfires in March 2019
• coordinating the closure of 16 schools on 20 November
2019, following the declaration of Code Red Day by
EMV for the Mallee and Northern Country LGA districts

• overseeing and effecting the delivery of Emergency
Management Victoria (EMV) Warning and Alerts to
Catholic schools
• counselling and assisting schools in developing and
drafting their emergency management plans (EMPs)
• upgrading and continuing to review the Emergency
Management page on the CECV website
• working with the DET’s Emergency Management
Division (EMD) to identify schools to be placed on the
Bushfire At-Risk Register
• working with the DET to identify schools at risk to
industrial fires and advising schools potentially at risk
to update the risk assessment and emergency response
procedures in their EMPs
• providing information circulars about the bushfire
season, bushfire preparedness, severe weather alerts,
air quality warnings, faulty gas space heaters and
overseas travel advice and warnings
• conducting training sessions at the Catholic Leadership
Centre for 17 school leaders and business managers on
emergency management planning
• managing the Student Activity Locator (SAL) and
sharing information with emergency agencies of
activities in areas threatened by bushfires or floods.
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Salary and Conditions Board
Membership

Roles and activities

Mr Garry McClean, Chief Executive Officer,
Mary MacKillop Heritage Centre, Member of the Board
of Directors, Diocese of Sale Catholic Education Ltd
(DOSCEL) (Member – Employer Body)

• review the salary and conditions of secondary principals
from time to time
• make recommendations on the salaries and conditions
of secondary principals in Catholic schools
• provide a rationale to the CECV Board for any
recommendations and in doing so, consult with, and
consider the views of, all relevant stakeholders
• submit recommendations to the CECV Board, which will
consider the recommendations in light of the capacity
of schools to pay, the salaries of other staff in Victorian
Catholic schools and the salaries of comparable
employees in Victorian government schools and
interstate Catholic schools.
The S&CB met on seven occasions in 2019 as a Board
and also conducted additional briefings and information
sessions with representatives from multiple Catholic school
employers, as well the Catholic education offices in the
dioceses of Sandhurst and Ballarat and with DOSCEL.

Mr Paul Hoy AM KSG, External Consultant (Chairperson)

Ms Mary Fitz-Gerald, Principal, Mater Christi College,
Belgrave (Member – Employee Body)
Mrs Sonia Hutchison, ER Adviser, Employee Relations,
CEM (Secretary)

The role of the Salary and Conditions Board (S&CB) is to:

The key outcomes in 2019 were in the following areas:
• Review of salaries and allowances of secondary
principals: The S&CB recommended an increase to
salaries and allowances for secondary principals in
2019 and 2020 which was supported by employers and
principals in 2018. This recommendation was endorsed
by the CECV in April 2019.
• Provision of motor vehicles to secondary principals:
The S&CB updated the motor vehicle calculator in line
with benchmark costings and taxation requirements.
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The main project that the S&CB conducted in 2019 was an
extensive review of the classification structure outlined in
clauses 1–4 of Part A of the Recommended Conditions of
Employment for Secondary Principals in Catholic Schools:
November 2014. The purpose of these provisions is to
ensure that employers have a consistent and comparable
method under which to set the base salary and allowances
of principals.
A detailed review was necessary due to the fact that the
‘school budget’ formula contained in the current Clause 1.2
has become obsolete and is no longer used by the CECV
for budget purposes. In conducting the review, from July
2019, the S&CB conducted four consultation sessions on
the classification model and provided a detailed proposal
to representatives from Catholic employer organisations
and representatives from each Catholic education office,
as well as the representative group for secondary principals
– Lay Principals Under Contract (LPUC), a sub-committee of
the Principals Associations of Victorian Catholic Secondary
Schools.
Throughout 2019 and through the extensive period of
consultation, the S&CB considered different approaches to
revise the classification structure and measures to address
the issues raised by stakeholders. In undertaking this work,
the S&CB sought to balance multiple stakeholder interests,
and will be providing a recommendation to the CECV
Board in 2020.
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Achievement Data
National Assessment Program
– Literacy and Numeracy results 2019

Victorian Certificate of Education (VCE)
results 2019

Vocational Education and Training (VET) and Victorian
Certificate of Applied Learning (VCAL) 2019

NAPLAN provides data for calculating the proportions
of students achieving results at or above the national
minimum standard in each of five domains (grammar and
punctuation, numeracy, reading, spelling and writing).
In 2019 the performance of students in Victorian Catholic
schools included:

VCE median study scores: In 2019, 72 Victorian Catholic
schools (76.6%) had a median study score within the
state average range of 28–32. Nine schools (9.6%) had
a median study score greater than 32.

Figure 2 shows that over the period 2015–2019 the
average number of VET certificates offered in Catholic
schools decreased slightly from 21.5 to 20.8. Over the
same period, the average number of VET enrolments per
school rose from 132.1 to 133.5.

The National Assessment Program – Literacy and Numeracy
(NAPLAN) is an Australia-wide testing program of literacy
and numeracy for students in Years 3, 5, 7 and 9.

• Year 3 students – for each domain, 97.4% achieved
results at or above the national benchmark, including
99.6% in writing
• Year 5 students – for each domain, 95.5% achieved
results at or above the national benchmark, including
98.8% in numeracy
• Year 7 students – for each domain, 95.8% achieved
results at or above the national benchmark, including
98.3% in numeracy
• Year 9 students – for each domain, 90.2% achieved
results at or above the national benchmark, including
99.3% in numeracy.

VCE satisfactory completion rates: In 2019, 88 Victorian
Catholic schools (93.6%) had satisfactory completion rates
of at least 98%.

VCE study scores of 40 or above: A study score of 40
or above represents exceptional performance (among the
top 8% in the state). In 2019, 7.7% of students in Victorian
Catholic schools achieved study scores of 40 or above
(see Figure 1).

Figure 2: Average number of VET certificates offered per
Victorian Catholic school 2015–2019

21.5

Figure 1: Percentage of Catholic students achieving study
scores of 40 and above
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Participation: There continues to be evidence of high student
participation in Vocational Education and Training (VET) and
the Victorian Certificate of Applied Learning (VCAL).

2016

2017

2015
2018

2016

2017

2019
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Figure 3 shows that over the period 2015–2019 the
number of Victorian Catholic schools offering the VCAL
increased from 85 to 86. Between 2015 and 2019 the
average number of students enrolled in the VCAL per
school rose from 41.7 to 42.7.
Figure 3: Number of Victoran Catholic schools offering the
VCAL 2015–2019

86

85

Figure 5 shows that 21 Catholic schools (24.4% of those
offering the VCAL) had all of their eligible students
complete the VCAL. There were 80 (93.0%) schools that
had at least three-quarters of their eligible students
complete the VCAL.
Figure 5: Number of schools grouped according to
percentage of 2019 VCAL completions
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Achievement: Schools’ average satisfactory completion
rate of VET units has decreased slightly from 90.7% to
90.1% between 2015 and 2019, as shown in Figure 4.

Student destinations post-Year 12, 2018

21

17

2017

As indicated in Table 1, over half (58.1%) of the 2018 Year 12
Catholic school leavers who completed the On Track survey
entered university. This clearly exceeded the state percentage
of 2018 school leavers (54.4%).

6
<75

75.0 – 89.9 90.0 – 99.9

The incidence of Catholic school leavers enrolling in a TAFE/
VET course (11.9%) was less than the state figure of 12.6%,
but was slightly higher than the 2017 figure of 10.3%. The
take-up of apprenticeships or traineeships (8.7%) decreased
from the 2017 figure of 8.9%.

100

Of the students eligible to complete the VCAL in 2019,
88.3% of Catholic school students satisfactorily completed
the certificate.
Figure 4: Average completion rates of VET units in Victorian
Catholic schools 2015–2019
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2017

The Catholic school figures were lower than those for all
schools in the labour market destination categories, specifically
in terms of those employed (9.1% compared to 11.5%) and
looking for work (1.3% compared to 3.2%).
Table 1: Destinations of students leaving Victorian schools after Year 12 (percentages) 2014 to 2018
Destination

92.0

2018

2019

Secondary students in Catholic schools across Victoria
had high representation in the study of VCE Religious
Education (RE) units in 2019. Among all Victorian school
students enrolled in each of the four VCE units of Religion
and Society, Catholic school students ranged between
75.9% and 93.1% of enrolments. In VCE Texts and
Traditions, the proportion ranged from 54.2% to 91.7%.
For each of these units the satisfactory completion rate of Victorian
Catholic school students was between 66.7% and 100%

81
79

Participation in VCE Religious Education

2014

Percentage from Catholic Schools
2015
2016
2017
2018

Percentage from all Victorian schools
2014
2015
2016
2017
2018

Bachelor degree

59.2

56.7

61.3

60.5

58.1

53.6

50.2

54.2

55.8

54.4

TAFE/VET

13.8

12.5

11.5

10.3

11.9

16.2

15.2

12.7

11.7

12.6

Apprenticeship/Traineeship

7.9

8.9

7.6

8.9

8.7

7.4

9.0

8.1

7.9

8.2

Employed

7.6

8.2

8.2

8.9

9.1

9.5

10.6

11.0

11.0

11.5

Looking for work

2.1

1.8

1.3

1.6

1.3

3.6

3.8

3.3

3.0

3.2

Deferred
Other

9.1
0.3

11.5
0.3

10.0
0.3

9.7
0.2

10.4
0.3

9.1
0.5

10.6
0.6

10.3
0.5

10.0
0.4

9.7
0.4
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Student Awards
Under-21 Thailand National
Volleyball Championships

Search for the Next Girl Superhero Challenge

Gabby Lougheed, Year 11 student at Emmanuel College,
Warrnambool, was selected by Volleyball Australia to
participate in the Under-21 Thailand National Volleyball
Championships. Gabby was invited to attend an Australian
junior development camp, where she joined other junior
players for a week’s training with coaches from Volleyball
Australia. Gabby was one of 24 selected from the group for
the Australian Junior Women’s Thailand Development Tour.

Rostrum Public Speaking State Final Winner

1

Louise Tamer, Year 9 student at Emmanuel College,
Warrnambool, won first place in the Rostrum Public
Speaking State Final in Melbourne. She then travelled to
Hobart in July for the National final and placed second.
Louise was also the winner of the junior division of the
Emmanuel Public Speaking Competition earlier in 2019.
Photo: Louise Tamer

Victorian State Tennis Team

2

Eloise Swarbrick, Year 11 student at Emmanuel College,
Warrnambool, was selected for the Victorian State Tennis
Team to compete in School Sport Australia championships
in Brisbane. In 2019, Eloise also made her International
Tennis Federation tournament debut, represented Victoria in
the Pizzey Cup and was one of 16 students selected to play
in the National Schools Tennis Championships in Adelaide.
Photo: Eloise is third from the left.

Australian Science Olympiad

Jacob Gome, Year 8 student at Emmanuel College,
Warrnambool, was one of 24 students from across
Australia selected to attend the 2020 Australian Science
Olympiad summer school for Chemistry. Jacob participated
in the two-week residential program during January at
the Australian National University in Canberra. Jacob was
selected based on his exceptional performance in the
Australian Science Olympiad Exams for Chemistry.
CECV Annual Report 2019

Nina Fitzsimmons, Year 9 student at Emmanuel College,
Warrnambool, was awarded the Victorian Regional Prize
for the 2019 Search for the Next Girl Superhero Challenge.
Students participate in a 12-week program to research a
problem in their local community and develop an app to
address the problem. Nina received high praise for her app
HealthSpot, which was designed for adolescents to educate
and reduce stigma around mental health and illness.

Warrnambool’s Young Citizen of the Year

3

Caitlin Garner, Year 11 student at Emmanuel College,
Warrnambool, was announced as Warrnambool’s Young
Citizen of the Year on Australia Day. Caitlin is a youth councillor
for Warrnambool City and is passionate about her involvement
in many of Warrnambool’s community groups including Holiday
Actors, The Warrnambool Theatre Company, the Warrnambool
City Youth Council, the Emmanuel Singers, the RSL Youth
Choir and Young Vinnies.

ATAR of 99.9

1

4

4

Matthew Duffy, Year 12 student at St Patrick’s College,
Ballarat, achieved an ATAR of 99.9. He was inducted as
the 2019 Dux at the college’s 2020 academic assembly.

Australian Country Basketball Championships

St Patrick’s College, Ballarat, brothers Charlie (Year 12) and
Alex Molan (Year 10), both represented Victoria Country in
the under-18 and under-16 age groups respectively at the
Australian Country Basketball Championships in Albury.

2

Under-19 Cricket World Cup

Kento Dobell, Year 12 student at St Patrick’s College,
Ballarat, toured South Africa representing Japan in the
Under-19 Cricket World Cup.

3
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Miss Teen Australia Victorian State Winner

YouThrive Scholarship

VCE Premier’s Awards

Caltex All-Rounder Award

Olivia Nichols from St Joseph’s College, Mildura, was
selected as one of five girls in Victoria to compete in the
Victorian state finals of Miss Teen Australia on 18 May.
After travelling to Melbourne to compete, Olivia took the
top spot. Olivia will be travelling to Launceston in July 2020
to compete in the national finals.
Deputy Premier and Education Minister James Merlino
presented the Premier’s VCE Awards on 3 June 2019
at the Melbourne Convention and Exhibition Centre.
Students from across the state were recognised for their
outstanding achievements in their VCE. Harry Amad from
Xavier College, Kew, received the Top All-Round VCE High
Achievement Award. This award is given to students who
achieved study scores of 46 or higher in at least five VCE
studies. Study Awards were also presented to a number of
Catholic school students who achieved study scores of 46
or higher in individual subjects.

Shotput and Discuss State Champion

1

Catholic College Wodonga Year 9 student, Logan Sandland,
was selected in the Victorian Athletics Team and went on to
compete in state and national competitions, winning a gold
medal in shotput and discus. Logan also won silver in the
hammer throw at the national titles.

Mother Borgia All-Rounder Award

Year 12 student, Bridget Byrne from St Joseph’s College,
Echuca, won the Mother Borgia All-Rounder Award for
excellence across a number of areas including academia,
personal conduct, attitude, leadership, sport and the arts.

Emily Brown from Catherine McAuley College, Bendigo,
was awarded a YouThrive Victoria scholarship for her
2019 VCE studies valued at $30,000. YouThrive Victoria
provides a range of scholarships to support young people
from regional and rural areas as they transition to further
studies, as well as providing leadership mentoring.
Year 11 student, Nic Robinson from Catholic College
Wodonga was awarded the Caltex All-Rounder Award in
recognition of his exceptional academic achievements,
as well as demonstrating high levels of success in the
areas of leadership, sport and community service.

Australia Day Honours

2

Marian College, Myrtleford, Year 7 students, Mia and
Alessi La Spina received the Young Local Achiever Award
for the Whorouly Community. This was a credit to twins
Mia and Alessi’s strong commitment to community spirit
and leadership.
Photo: Mia and Alessi La Spina

School Sports Victoria State Champion

Layla Day from Catherine McAuley College, Bendigo,
was the School Sports Victoria State Champion in multiple
events including the open girls 100 m backstroke,
16-year-old girls 50 m backstroke, open girls 100 m
freestyle and 16-year-old girls 50 m freestyle.

Triple Jump State Champion

1

3

Hugh Murphy, a Grade 6 student from St Joseph’s School,
Nagambie, became the State Champion last week for triple
jump in the boys 12/13-year-old category. Hugh jumped
10.69 m and won by 1 cm!

2
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World Clay Target Shooting Championships

1

Notre Dame College, Shepparton, student Xavier Russell
won a bronze medal at the World Clay Target Shooting
Championships held in England. The Year 11 student
competed in the under-21 category as a member of the
three-man Australian team. Xavier was also placed 11th
overall out of 1000 competitors.

Wiltronics Excellence Award

2

For his pursuit of excellence in Science/Technology studies,
Catholic College Wodonga Year 8 student, Cameron Lee,
was awarded the Wiltronics Excellence Award.

Sporting Horse Australia Under-15 National
Champion 3

Catherine McAuley College, Bendigo, student Laila
Day was named the Sporting Horse Australia Under-15
National Champion. The 13 year-old student put on a top
performance at the SHA Australian Championships on her
12 year-old horse, Forrest.

The Catholic Bishop of Sale Religious
Education Awards

This award recognises the efforts of students achieving
study scores of 40+ in their VCE religious studies. In 2019,
the recipients were:
• Sunday Denny, Marist-Sion College, Warragul
• Tahlia Ramm, Marist-Sion College, Warragul
• Neha Shibu, St Francis Xavier College, Beaconsfield.

VCE Leader of the Year

4

Lincoln Ingravalle from Lavalla Catholic College, Traralgon,
was among six young Victorians recognised at the 2019
VCE Leadership Awards on Wednesday 18 September.
Lincoln was named VCE Leader of the Year for his
outstanding work as Latrobe City Council’s Youth Mayor,
where he promoted positive mental health within
his community.

Royal Agricultural Society Scholarship

Patrick Anderson, a Year 12 student from Marist-Sion
College, Warragul, received a $10,000 scholarship from
the Royal Agricultural Society of Victoria after taking
out a number of awards at the Royal Melbourne Show.
The awards included the supreme dairy jersey exhibit
and intermediate jersey champion. The scholarship will
allow him to travel to Canada and California in 2020,
where he will visit stud jersey farms and work with top
American show cattle.

1

Trafalgar Lions Club Public Speaking Award

Stephanie O’Neill and Hannah Upston won the Trafalgar
Lions Club Public Speaking Competition. The two students
from St Joseph’s School, Trafalgar went on to represent
the school in the district finals.

2

4

Overall High Gun at the Yarra Valley Secondary
Schools Championship
Chelsea Beechey from Nagle College, Bairnsdale,
competed at the 2019 Yarra Valley Secondary Schools
Championship in May and took out the coveted title
of Overall High Gun.

Open Women’s ISSF (Olympic) Trap Event

Renae Jones from Nagle College, Bairnsdale shot at the
Open Women’s International Shooting Sport Federation
Trap Event in Sydney in February 2019, taking out the
bronze medallion for her efforts.
3
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North Melbourne AFL Draft Selection

Charlie Comben from Catholic College Sale was selected by
North Melbourne in the 2019 AFL Draft after excelling in the
under-18 competition with Gippsland Power and again in
the AFL under-18 championships with the Vic Country team.

The Australian Mathematics Journal

Year 12 student, Mubasshir Murshed from Lavalla Catholic
College, Traralgon, was published in the Australian
Mathematics Journal for writing an equation that proves
a parabola is the only shape that has one focal point.

Father James Wall Bursary Leadership
Achievement Award 1

Aurecon Bridge Building Competition

Mount St Joseph Girls’ College, Altona, hosted and
won the Aurecon Bridge Building Competition for 2019.
Students Augustina, Tam and Sarvleen represented the
college in the competition and were awarded first prize
for building the strongest bridge.

Corporal Cameron Baird VC MG Memorial Award
Rihan Rofaeel from Kolbe Catholic College, Greenvale
Lakes, was awarded a Corporal Cameron Baird VC MG
Memorial Award by Hume City Council. Rihan was one of
two recipients of the Leading From the Front Achievement
Award and shared the $5,000 prize.

In 2019, six students across Australia were selected
to receive the Father James Wall Bursary Leadership
Achievement Award. The recipients each received $4,000
from the Catholic Development Fund to assist with school
fees and other expenses incurred while undertaking
studies in Years 11 and 12. The recipients were:

Wool4School Competition

•
•
•
•
•
•

VCAL Student Achievement Award

Hannah Walsh, Catholic College, Sale
Heidi Bakker, St Ignatius College Geelong, Drysdale
Charlie Borracci, Sacred Heart College, Newtown
Michael Alexander Lapina, Thomas Carr College, Tarneit
Chelsea Tomada, Catholic Ladies College, Eltham
Patrick Gannon, Christian Borthers’ College, St Kilda.

Photo: Bishop Patrick O’Regan, Miss Hannah Walsh and Mr Matthew Cassin

The Elizabeth Hunt Scholarship

2

Emma Pocock from St Peter’s College, Cranbourne was the
winner of the Elizabeth Hunt Scholarship. The scholarship
is a grant to support students undertaking a Bachelor of
Education or a Bachelor of Teaching at Australian Catholic
University. Scholarship recipients receive $1,500 per year for
the four years of their course.

Prue Spencer from Genazzano FCJ College, Kew,
won the national Wool4School competition in the Year 10
category with her design Dressed to See. Prue designed
a fashionable outfit that would also assist visually impaired
and blind young women aged between 13 and 20.
The VCAL Achievement Awards celebrate the outstanding
achievements of students who have participated in and
completed a VCAL qualification. Dana Yap from John Paul
College, Frankston, received the award in the Senior
Outstanding Achievement category.

1

#ihaveyourback Poster Competition

Gabrielle from St Michael’s School, Ashburton, and Isabella
from Genazzano FCJ College, Kew, were named winners
in the #ihaveyourback poster competition. Students
from across the state designed posters that focused on
the values of ‘upstander behaviour’ to address bullying.
The winning posters were then distributed to Victorian
Catholic schools.

Photo: Ms Maria Kirkwood, Miss Emma Pocock and Bishop Patrick O’Regan
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Tech Girl Superhero Challenge

Five female students from Salesian College, Sunbury,
were declared the national secondary school winners
of the 2019 Tech Girl Superhero Challenge. The students
designed a gender-neutral character named Codie. Its aim
was to check in with young people and offer them a space
to develop skills in reflection and breathing/de-escalation,
as well as a planner to assist with time management.

Emergent 2018 Co-curator

Lara Vulic of St John’s Regional College, Dandenong,
was one of three students selected as co-curators for
Emergent 2018, an exhibition held at Bunjil Place showcasing
outstanding works by young artists from the City of Casey.

Premier’s Spirit of Anzac Prize

Students from four of Melbourne’s Catholic secondary
schools were recognised by the 2019 Premier’s Spirit of
Anzac Prize. Sian Cadogan-Cowper from Catholic Ladies’
College, Eltham, took part in a study tour to Vietnam.
Rachel Colosimo from Kolbe Catholic College, Greenvale
Lakes, Lola Derrick-Wright from Academy of Mary
Immaculate, Fitzroy, and Sarah Stanko from Santa Maria
College, Northcote, visited Canberra as part of their prize.

CECV Annual Report 2019

Hobsons Bay City Council’s
Young Citizen of the Year

Layla West from Mount St Joseph Girls’ College, Altona,
was awarded the title of Hobsons Bay City Council’s 2019
Young Citizen of the Year for her work in junior sports
development and Down syndrome awareness.

Australian Catholics Young Journalist Award

Students Asheriya Charan from Thomas Carr College,
Tarneit, and Madeline McVeigh from Catholic Ladies’
College, Eltham, were crowned winner and runner-up,
respectively, in the Intermediate Section (Years 7 to 9)
of the Australian Catholics Young Journalist Award 2019.
The students were encouraged to find inspiring family
stories in their community, interview those involved and
write an article for the Australian Catholics magazine.

Chinese Proficiency Competition

Alex De Cesar from Marcellin College, Bulleen, competed
in a Chinese language and culture contest against students
from around the world and finished in third place. Alex was
one of 120 students from 20 countries to have made it
past their local round and compete in the ‘Chinese Bridge’
Chinese Proficiency Competition for Foreign Secondary
School Students in China.

NAIDOC Medal of Excellence

Mariana from St Leo the Great School, Altona North,
and Kristen from Corpus Christi School, Werribee,
were two of 20 Victorian students recognised with a
NAIDOC Medal of Excellence.

International Physics Olympiad

Stephen Catsamas from Marcellin College, Bulleen,
was awarded a silver medal at the International Physics
Olympiad. As part of the UNESCO-sanctioned International
Science Olympiads, the 2019 International Physics
Olympiad took place in Tel Aviv, Israel.

Sporting success

Two primary schools in the Archdiocese of Melbourne
celebrated their success in netball and basketball. St John
Vianney’s School, Parkdale East, was announced as School
of the Year in the 2019 Netball Victoria Community Awards,
and the girls basketball team from Stella Maris School,
Beaumaris, won the state basketball girls grand final.
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Teacher Awards
2020 Gandel Holocaust Studies Program
for Australian Educators 1

Liam Charles, Media, English and Religious Education teacher
at Mercy Regional College, Camperdown, was selected to
participate in the 2020 Gandel Holocaust Studies Program
for Australian Educators. This fully-funded scholarship
program aims to train a cadre of Holocaust educators across
Australia and involves an online training course, a three-week
seminar at Yad Vashem in Jerusalem in the summer holidays
and developing a research project/course.

Daniel Ahern Bursary

2

3

The pioneering spirit of Daniel Ahern, a teacher from the
1800s, is recognised through this bursary, which provides
financial support to non-teaching staff who wish to pursue
a career as a teacher. In 2019, the recipients were Mandy
Bialy from St Kieran’s School, Moe, and Pina Marciano
from St Peter’s College, Cranbourne.
Photo 2: Ms Mandy Bialy and Bishop Patrick O’Regan
Photo 3: Ms Pina Marciano and Bishop Patrick O’Regan

Catholic Education Service Awards

The Catholic Education Service Awards acknowledge and
pay tribute to staff within the Diocese of Sale who have
dedicated themselves to the Catholic education sector in
Australia for 25 years or more. In 2019 the recipients were:
•
•
•
•
•
•

Christina Miller, St Francis Xavier College, Beaconsfield
Susan Munro, St Francis Xavier College, Beaconsfield
Stephanie Veness, Nagle College, Bairnsdale
Neville Powles, Nagle College, Bairnsdale
Michelle Hinds, St Agatha’s School, Cranbourne
Andrew Butler, St Clare’s, Officer.

CECV Annual Report 2019

Spirit of Catholic Education Awards

The Spirit of Catholic Education Awards recognise individuals
in Catholic schools who have achieved excellence in inspiring
faith and learning within their school community. In 2019 the
recipients were:
• Inspiring Faith Award: John Fazzino,
St Francis Xavier College, Beaconsfield
• Inspiring Learning Award: Michael Beecham,
Marist-Sion College, Warragul.

Unsung Heroes Music Award

Ms Elly Poletti, music teacher at Mary MacKillop Catholic
Regional College, Leongatha, received the Unsung Heroes
Music Award from EducationHQ for her dedication to helping
her students realise their potential in the performing arts.

Menzies School Leader Fellowship

Catholic Ladies’ College, Eltham, Deputy Principal Georgia
Heffernan was one of the four high-performing school
leaders from Victorian schools to have been awarded the
Menzies School Leader Fellowship.

Scope Awards

Kristine Smith from the Student Learning Support team at
St Bernard’s College, Essendon, received the Community
Do it Better Award at the 2019 Scope Awards. Kristine and
her colleagues Guy Logan and Lynette Dawson collaborated
with students, teachers and Scope therapists to support the
needs of a student with disabilities at the school.

1

VCAL Teacher Achievement Award

The VCAL Achievement Awards recognise the exceptional
efforts of teachers who play an important role in the delivery
of VCAL programs. Hannah Studd and Denise Walker from
MacKillop Specialist School, Whittington, were awarded
in the Team Teaching category and Kerryn Katel from
Assumption College, Kilmore, was awarded in the Integrated
Program category.

2

3
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School Awards
Outstanding Learning Environments Awards

1

St Anne’s College, Kialla, was the winner of the
New Educational Facility category at the 2019 Outstanding
Learning Environments Awards. The college facilities and
their architects were recognised for the project design
which enables students to be connected with their
extended college community which contributes to creating
a progressive education paradigm.

Victorian Schools Garden Awards

Staff and students at Our Lady Star of the Sea Catholic
Primary School, Cowes, met with Costa from Gardening
Australia in November, after being crowned the southeastern regional winner of the Victorian Schools Garden
Awards. Four Melbourne Catholic schools also received
awards: St Raphael’s School, Preston West, St John’s
School, Footscray, Bethany Catholic Primary School,
Werribee North, and Catholic Regional College, Sydenham.

Leader Local Grant

The Mini Vinnies team at St Luke’s School, Wantirna,
received a Leader Local Grant to help them continue
to support families. Giving up their own time, the
Mini Vinnies worked during lunchtimes and after school to
prepare meals for vulnerable families.

Peter Craig School Award

Holy Rosary School, Kensington, was awarded with the
Peter Craig School Award (non-government primary school
category) in the 2019 Science Talent Search. Holy Rosary’s
entries were selected from the school’s Science Fair.
The school was awarded 12 bursaries, including seven
major and five minor.

Associated Grammar Schools of Victoria cross
country title

Marcellin College, Bulleen, was awarded its 20th
consecutive Associated Grammar Schools of Victoria
(AGSV) cross country title. The college’s cross country
community has continued to grow every year and these
titles come only with the dedicated support of staff in charge
and the families that are there every weekend, supporting
the young men.

VCAL Partner Achievement Award

The VCAL Partner Achievement Awards recognise the
outstanding support given by community partners in
the delivery of the VCAL. The Trade Training Centre at
Catholic Regional College, Sydenham, was awarded in the
Workplace Training category.

Victorian Early Year Awards

Learning Environments Awards

Tidy Towns Sustainable Communities Awards
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Notre Dame College, Shepparton, claimed its first Herald
Sun Country Shield title since 2005. The Notre Dame
team, which consisted of students from Years 11 and 12,
defeated Ballarat’s Clarendon College in Bendigo to take
the title, winning by 27 points.

St Aloysius’ School, Queenscliff, was named as one of
three finalists in the education category for the Premier’s
Sustainability Awards 2019.

Ave Maria College, Aberfeldie, and Genazzano FCJ College,
Kew, were recognised in The Educator’s Innovative Schools
2019 list. The list recognised these schools for their significant
effort to break new ground in teaching and learning.
St Mary MacKillop Catholic Primary School, Bannockburn,
won the Landscaping/Outdoor Learning Area category
for Victoria in the 15th Learning Environments Awards.
These are held each year to celebrate the standards
of educational planning and design, and to showcase best
practice in the industry.

2

Premier’s Sustainability Award finalist

Good Samaritan Catholic Primary School, Roxburgh Park,
was a finalist in the 2019 Victorian Early Years Awards in
Category 4: Promoting Children’s Health and Wellbeing.
The school developed ASPIRE – a project aimed at
supporting students and their families by providing earlier
access to a range of early childhood education, health and
development support services.

The Educator’s Innovative Schools

Herald Sun Country Shield Premiers

St Joseph’s School, Sorrento, was named one of the finalists
in the 2019 Tidy Towns Sustainable Communities Awards.
The garden was created by staff and students, with the
aim of celebrating the United Nations International Year of
Indigenous Languages, and encouraging a wider range
of birds, native bees and insects into the school grounds.

1
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Financial report for the financial year ended 31 December 2019
The directors of the Catholic Education Commission of Victoria Limited (‘CECV Ltd’
or ‘the company’) submit herewith the annual financial report of the company for the financial
year ended 31 December 2019. In order to comply with the reporting requirements of the
Australian Charities and Not-for-profits Commission (ACNC) Act 2012 (Cth), the directors’
report is as follows:

Name

Particulars

Ms Maria Kirkwood

Director of Catholic Education in the Diocese of Sale

BEd, GradDipArts, CertT

Director of Catholic Capital Grants (Victoria) Limited
Member of the CECV ICON Working Group

The names and particulars of the directors of the company during
or since the end of the financial year
Name

Particulars

Most Rev. Terence Curtin
STD DD STL BEd VG EV
(Chair)

Auxiliary Bishop, Archdiocese of Melbourne

Mr Francis Moore

Executive Director Administration of Archdiocese
of Melbourne

LLB, BComm (Deputy Chair)
(resigned 12 December 2019)

Deputy Chairman of the Archdiocese of Melbourne
– Catholic Development Fund
Director of Catholic Capital Grants (Victoria) Limited
Director of Catholic Network Australia Limited
Trustee of the Roman Catholic Trusts Corporation
for the Diocese of Melbourne
Chair of the CECV Audit and Risk Committee

Mr Tim O’Leary

Member of the Diocesan Finance Council

BA (Honours), GradDipPhil

Deputy Chair of the Catholic Development Fund Board

(appointed 11 February 2020)

Member of the Catholic Education Commission of Victoria
Limited
Trustee of the Roman Catholic Trusts Corporation

Member of the CECV Grants Allocation Committee (Primary)
Chair of the CECV Grants Allocation Committee (Secondary)
Chair of the Employment Relations Committee
Member of the CECV Enhancing Catholic School Identity
Project Steering Committee
Dr Helga Neidhart RSC

Senior Lecturer, School of Educational Leadership

TPTC, BA, MEd (Hons), PhD, Australian Catholic University (retired)
BTheol, FACE, FACEL
Ms Audrey Brown

Director of Catholic Education in the Diocese of Ballarat

BA, DipEd, MEd,
GradCertRE,
GradDipArts(Theol),
GradCertEdLaw, MEdSLead,
MProfStTheol, FACEL,
MAICD

Director of Catholic Capital Grants (Victoria) Limited
Member of the CECV ICON Working Group
Member of the CECV Grants Allocation Committee (Primary)
Chair of the CECV Grants Allocation Committee
(Targeted Programs)
Member of the CECV Enhancing Catholic Schools Identity
Project Steering Committee

Very Rev. Peter Slater
PP VG

Parish Priest of Warragul and Drouin

BA, MA
(resigned 18 November 2019)

Rev. Justin Driscoll

Administrator of St Patrick’s Cathedral Parish Ballarat

BTheol, MM
(appointed 6 December 2019)
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Name

Particulars

Mr Paul Desmond

Director of Catholic Education in the Diocese of Sandhurst

BEd, GradDipRE, GradDip
Student Guidance & Welfare

Director of Catholic Capital Grants (Victoria) Limited
Member of the CECV ICON Working Group
Member of the CECV Grants Allocation Committee (Primary)
Chair of the CECV Review Body Committee
Member of the Victorian Institute of Teaching Council

Mr Jim Miles

Executive Director of Catholic Education, Archdiocese of
Melbourne

BA, BComm,
GradDipEconomics, MComm Director of Enterprise Services,
Catholic Education Melbourne

Member of the CECV ICON Working Group
Ms Anna Rados
(Company Secretary) (appointed 21
February 2019)

BA, GradDipCriminology,
GradCert Management of
NFP Organisations

Company Secretary of the Catholic Education Commission
of Victoria Limited
Acting Assistant Director of Enterprise Services Catholic
Education Melbourne
Manager of Analysis, Policy and Research Catholic
Education Melbourne
Member of the CECV Review Body Committee

The directors have been in office since the start of the financial year to the date of this report,
unless otherwise indicated.

Principal activities

The objectives of the company are:
In accordance with the beliefs, traditions and practices of the Roman Catholic Church,
and Church laws:
a. to, for and on behalf of Catholic Schools, act as the recipient of grants provided to
or in respect of Catholic schools
b. to allocate, distribute, expend or appropriate grants to Catholic schools, always in
accordance with conditions (if any) imposed by a government agency
c. to, in cooperation with the Director of Catholic Education in each diocese, facilitate
and support the compliance with all relevant conditions and requirements in respect
of grants imposed by a government agency
d. to act for each bishop in specified matters concerning the Catholic schools in his
diocese, or in such other matters as the bishops may in cooperation require.

Review of operations

The company’s net deficit for the year ended 31 December 2019 is $3,345,468
(2018 deficit: $3,085,204).

Changes in the state of affairs

There were no significant changes in the state of affairs of the company.

Future developments

Although the Gonski 2.0 proposals and subsequent amendments announced by the Federal
Government during September 2018 will ensure that the CECV itself will remain viable, there
is still some uncertainty about what the changes will mean for individual schools. SES scores
are the most critical variable in non-government school funding in which Direct Measure of
Income (DMI) is planned to be implemented by the Australian Government Department of
Education, Skills and Employment (DESE) from 2020.
The Coalition Government has legislated a new 10-year funding model. The Government will
pay 80% of its ‘Schooling Resource Standard’ to Catholic schools by 2023. Funding for the
CECV system as a result of the new measure of capacity to contribute and Catholic systemic
schools being placed on the same transition line as other non-government schools are
expected to increase by $1b between 2020 and 2029. For this transition change to occur,
the passing of the Australian Education Amendment (Direct Measure of Income) Bill 2020
(Cth) is required. The Parliament passed the bill on 23 March 2020, although it has yet to
receive royal assent.
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The Bill that the CECV strongly supports will substantively address two fundamental concerns
with current school funding arrangements, which make them biased and discriminatory against
Catholic schools and other low-fee non-government schools. The first concern is the use
of school Socio-economic Status (SES) scores to estimate the ‘capacity to contribute’ of a
school community. These scores are biased and significantly undermine the principle of needsbased funding. The replacement of SES scores with Direct Measure of Income (DMI) scores
is a landmark change that should be welcomed by all supporters of needs-based funding.
The second concern is an inconsistency in the way non-government schools assessed to
be ‘over funded’ in the Schooling Resource Standard (SRS) model transition depending on
whether they are part of a school system. Under current arrangements, if these schools are
part of a system, they transition down to their funding target within six years, while nonsystemic non-government schools transition down in 10 years.
The CECV is committed to a school funding model that supports choice and access for
all Australians through the widespread provision of diverse non-government schools that
have a range of fee levels and operating models. The diversity of educational opportunities
across non-government schools, religious and non-religious, in systems and outside of
systems, and their provision of choice to all families across the socio-economic spectrum,
is a strength of our nation’s education landscape. The Coalition Government’s Choice and
Affordability Fund (CAF) is expected to provide the CECV with approximately $180 million
over the 2020 to 2029 period.
Catholic education will continue to advocate for funding arrangements that ensure parental
choice in education and the continued affordability and accessibility of a quality education
founded on the Catholic faith and its values.
Victorian Government recurrent funding arrangements have now been signed until 2021
through a Funding Agreement between the company and the Victorian Government.
State legislation links funding to the company under the Funding Agreement to the funding
level of government schools. This provides certainty on state funding to the company until
the end of 2021, subject to the recent change in Victorian Government policy.

While the CECV itself satisfies these requirements, the CECV under these is likely not able
to distribute state funding from 2021 to unincorporated entities, including diocesan Catholic
schools and the diocesan Catholic education offices, except for Diocese of Sale Catholic
Education Limited (DOSCEL). DOSCEL governs and manages the operation of Catholic
primary and secondary schools, employs principals and other staff and is the owner of the
assets of schools.

Environmental regulations

The company’s operations are not regulated by any significant environmental regulation under
the laws of the Commonwealth or of any state or territory. However, the directors believe
that the company has adequate systems in place for the management of its environmental
requirements and it is not aware of any breach of these environmental requirements.

Dividends

The company does not pay dividends.

Indemnification of officers and auditors

During or since the end of the financial year, the company has not indemnified or made a
relevant agreement to indemnify an officer or auditor of the company or of any related body
corporate against a liability incurred as such by an officer or auditor. In addition, the company
has not paid, or agreed to pay, a premium in respect of a contract insuring against a liability
incurred by an officer or auditor.
CECV Ltd has directors and officers liability insurance contracts for directors and officers of
the company. The insurance provides cover against claims made by reason of any wrongful
act committed or alleged to have been committed by a director or officer of the company.

The change to Victorian Funding Guidelines for Services to Children policy states that
‘a Funding Provider must ensure that a Funded Organisation with which it proposes to
reach a Funding Agreement is incorporated and appropriately insured, and maintains its
incorporated status and continues to hold appropriate insurance for the duration of the
Funding Agreement.’ These changes to policy arose from the Victorian Government’s
Betrayal of Trust – Recommendations 26.1 and 26.2.
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Directors’ meetings

The following table sets out the number of directors’ meetings (including meetings of
committees of directors) held during the financial year and the number of meetings attended
by each director (while they were a director or committee member). During the financial year,
seven Board meetings and four meetings of the Audit and Risk Committee were held.
Board of Directors
Directors

Audit and Risk Committee

Eligible to attend

Attended

Eligible to attend

Attended

Most Rev Terry Curtin

7

7

–

–

Ms Audrey Brown

7

6

–

–

Mr Francis Moore

7

5

4

4

1

Dr Helga Neidhart RSC

7

6

–

–

Mr Tim O’Leary2

–

–

–

–

Mrs Maria Kirkwood

7

7

–

–

Very Rev. Peter Slater5

7

5

–

–

Rev. Justin Driscoll

–

–

–

–

Mr Jim Miles

7

7

3

3

Mr Paul Desmond4

7

6

–

–

Mr David Bristow

6

3

Mr John Hurren3

–

–

4

4

–

–

4

4

Proceedings on behalf of the company

During the year, no persons brought or intervened in any proceedings on behalf of the company.

Auditor’s independence declaration

The lead auditor’s independence declaration for the financial year ended 31 December 2019
has been received and can be found on page 40 of the annual report.
Signed in accordance with a resolution of directors.
On behalf of the directors

Mr Tim O’Leary

Mr Jim Miles

Director of Catholic Education
Commission of Victoria Limited

Director of Catholic Education
Commission of Victoria Limited

Dated at East Melbourne this 11 day of June 2020

1
Mr Moore was the Chair of the Audit and Risk Committee as of the last meeting and resigned on the
12 December 2019.
2
Mr O’Leary has been appointed the new Chair of the Audit and Risk Committee as of the 11 February 2020
as a replacement for Mr Moore.
3

Mr Bristow and Mr Hurren are external representatives.

4

Mr Desmond is chairperson of the CECV Review Body Committee.

5

Very Rev. Slater resigned on 18 November 2019.

6

Rev. Driscoll was appointed on the 6 December 2019.
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Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
ABN 74 490 121 060
477 Collins Street
Melbourne VIC 3000
GPO Box 78
Melbourne VIC 3001 Australia
DX: 111
Tel: +61 (0) 3 9671 7000
Fax: +61 (0) 3 9671 7001
www.deloitte.com.au

The Board of Directors
Catholic Education Commission of Victoria Limited
James Goold House
228 Victoria Parade
EAST MELBOURNE VIC 3002

11 June 2020
Dear Board Members
Catholic Education Commission of Victoria Limited
In accordance with Subdivision 60-C of the Australian Charities and Not-for-profits Commission Act
2012, I am pleased to provide the following declaration of independence to the directors of Catholic
Education Commission of Victoria Limited.
As lead audit partner for the audit of the financial statements of Catholic Education Commission of
Victoria Limited for the financial year ended 31 December 2019, I declare that to the best of my
knowledge and belief, there have been no contraventions of:
(i) the auditor independence requirements of the Australian Charities and Not-for-profits
Commission Act 2012 in relation to the audit; and
(ii) any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit.
Yours sincerely

DELOITTE TOUCHE TOHMATSU

Peter Glynn
Partner
Chartered Accountants

Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation.
Member of Deloitte Asia Pacific Limited and the Deloitte Network

7
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Statement of financial position as at 31 December 2019

Statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income
for the financial year ended 31 December 2019
Note

Financial year ended Financial year ended
31 December 2019
31 December 2018
$

$

2,688,746,692

2,549,625,772

(2,654,423,888)

(2,517,771,774)

(25,117,002)

(23,216,594)

CECV operations

(8,691,453)

(7,972,775)

Amortisation (ICON)

(3,859,817)

(3,749,833)

(2,692,092,160)

(2,552,710,976)

(3,345,468)

(3,085,204)

–

–

(3,345,468)

(3,085,204)

Continuing operations
Income

3

Recurrent grant distributions
Targeted programs/areas
distributions

Total expenses
Deficit for the year

4

Other comprehensive income
Total comprehensive loss for
the year

Note

Notes to the audited financial statements are included on pages 43 to 55.

Financial year ended Financial year ended
31 December 2019
31 December 2018
$

$

1,507,416

839,922

Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents

6(a)

Receivables and other assets

7(a)

433,359

355,187

Prepayments

7(b)

3,754,262

1,222,780

5,695,037

2,417,889

30,207,783

33,287,568

Total non-current assets

30,207,783

33,287,568

Total assets

35,902,820

35,705,475

12,786,892

9,244,061

Total current liabilities

12,786,892

9,244,061

Total liabilities

12,786,892

9,244,061

Net assets

23,115,928

26,461,396

22,558,428

25,903,896

557,500

557,500

–

–

23,115,928

26,461,396

Total current assets
Non-current assets
Intangible assets

8

Current liabilities
Creditors and accrued expenses

9

Equity
ICON reserves

5

IT Projects capital reserve
Accumulated funds
Total equity
Notes to the audited financial statements are included on pages 43 to 55.

CECV Annual Report 2019

Page 41

1 | Company Members & Directors

2 | Chair’s Report

3 | Committee Reports

4 | School Achievement

5 | Awards

6 | Financial Statements

7 | Appendices

8 | Abbreviations

6 | Financial Statements

Statement of cash flows for the financial year ended 31 December 2019

Statement of changes in equity for the financial year ended 31 December 2019
Note

Financial year ended Financial year ended
31 December 2019
31 December 2018
$

$

Accumulated funds
Balance at the beginning of the year

–

2,599,996

Total comprehensive (loss) for the year

(3,345,468)

(3,085,204)

3,345,468

485,208

–

–

Transfer to ICON reserve
Balance at the end of the year
ICON reserve
Balance at the beginning of the year

25,903,896

26,389,104

Transfer from Accumulated funds

(3,345,468)

(485,208)

22,558,428

25,903,896

557,500

557,500

–

–

557,500

557,500

Total reserve at the end of the year

23,115,928

26,461,396

Total

23,115,928

26,461,396

Balance at the end of the year

5

IT capital projects reserve
Balance at the beginning of the year
Transfer from Accumulated funds
Balance at the end of the year

Notes to the audited financial statements are included on pages 43 to 55.

Note

Financial year ended Financial year ended
31 December 2019
31 December 2018
$

$

2,827,809,973

2,669,122,925

110,414,644

115,423,894

4,059,141

4,054,558

Cash flows from
operating activities
Receipt of government grants
Receipt of school levies
Interest received
Other operating receipts

3,536,568

3,671,934

(2,679,540,890)

(2,543,708,368)

(264,831,909)

(248,620,669)

6(b)

1,447,527

(55,726)

8

(780,033)

(14,460)

Net cash used in investing activities

(780,033)

(14,460)

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and
cash equivalents

667,494

(70,186)

Cash and cash equivalents at the
beginning of the financial year

839,922

910,108

1,507,416

839,922

Distribution of government grants
Payments to suppliers
Net cash provided by/(used in)
operating activities
Cash flows from
investing activities
Capital expenditure on Intangibles
(WIP)

Cash and cash equivalents at the
end of the financial year

6(a)

Notes to the audited financial statements are included on pages 43 to 55.
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Notes to the financial statements for the financial year
ended 31 December 2019
Note Contents
1. General information
2. Significant accounting policies
3. Income
4. Expenses
5. ICON reserves
6. Notes to the cash flow statement
7. Receivables and other assets
8. Intangible assets
9. Creditors and accrued expenses
10. Distributions payable
11. Commitments and contingencies
12. Financial instruments
13. Related party disclosures
14. Economic dependency
15. Subsequent events

1. General information

The Catholic Education Commission of Victoria Limited (‘CECV Ltd’ or ‘the company’)
is a company limited by guarantee and is registered with the ACNC as a charity.
The members of the company are the Archbishop of Melbourne and the bishops of the
Dioceses of Ballarat, Sandhurst and Sale. The directors of the company are as below:
Most Rev. Terence Curtin STD DD VG EV
Mr Tim O’Leary (appointed on the 11th February 2020)
Mr Francis Moore (resigned on 12th December 2019)
Ms Maria Kirkwood
Dr Helga Neidhart RSC
Ms Audrey Brown
Very Rev. Peter Slater PP VG
Mr Paul Desmond
Mr Jim Miles
There is currently no key management personnel remunerated directly by the CECV,
as the company has a Service Level Agreement with Catholic Education Melbourne
to provide administration and back office services.
The company’s registered office and its principal place of business is as follows:
James Goold House
228 Victoria Parade
EAST MELBOURNE VIC 3002
Postal address:
PO Box 3
EAST MELBOURNE 8002

2. Significant accounting policies

Statement of compliance
The financial report is a general purpose financial report which has been prepared in
accordance with reporting requirements of the Australian Charities and Not-for-profits
Commission Act 2012, Accounting Standards and Interpretations, and complies with other
requirements of the law. Accounting Standards include Australian equivalents to International
Financial Reporting Standards (AIFRS) as relevant for not-for-profits. For the purposes of
preparing the financial statements, the company is a not-for-profit entity.
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Basis of preparation
The financial report has been prepared on the basis of historical cost. Cost is based
on the fair values of the consideration given in exchange for assets. All amounts are
presented in Australian dollars unless otherwise noted.
The following significant accounting policies have been adopted in the preparation and
presentation of the financial report:
a. Cash and cash equivalents
Cash comprises cash on hand and demand deposits. Cash equivalents are shortterm, highly liquid investments that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash
and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value.

f.

In cases where there is an ‘enforceable’ contract with a customer with ‘sufficiently
specific’ performance obligations, the transaction is accounted for under AASB 15
where income is recognised when (or as) the performance obligations are satisfied.
In all other cases the transaction is accounted for under AASB 1058 where the
income is recognised upon receipt.

b. Employee benefits
There are no employees directly engaged by the Catholic Education Commission
of Victoria (CECV) Limited. All relevant services are provided via a Service Level
Agreement (SLA) with Catholic Education Melbourne.
c.

Financial assets
Receivables are recorded at amortised cost using the effective interest method,
less impairment. The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial asset and of allocating interest income over the relevant
period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future
cash receipts through the expected life of the financial asset, or where appropriate,
a shorter period.

d. Financial liabilities
Creditors and accrued expenses (including distributions payable) are classified as
‘other financial liabilities’ and are measured initially at fair value, net of transaction
costs. They are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest
method, with interest expense recognised on an effective yield basis.
The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of
a financial liability and of allocating interest expense over the relevant period.
The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash
payments through the expected life of the financial liability or where appropriate,
a shorter period.
e.

Income taxes
The company is exempt from paying income taxes. The company is not subjected
to capital gains tax or payroll tax but is liable for other taxes in accordance with
Australian and State government legislation.
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Income
When the company receives government grants that are in the scope of AASB 1058
(being a transaction where the consideration paid to acquire an asset is significantly
less than fair value principally to enable the company to further its objectives),
it performs an assessment to determine if the contract is ‘enforceable’ and contains
‘sufficiently specific’ performance obligations.

Interest income is recognised on a proportional basis taking into account the interest
rates applicable to the financial assets.
Cost recoveries received from Catholic Education Melbourne are recognised as
income as the transfers are received.
g. Goods and services tax (GST)
Revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities are recognised net of the amount of GST,
except where the amount of GST incurred is not recoverable from the Australian Tax
Office (ATO). In these circumstances, the GST is recognised as part of the cost of
acquisition of the asset or part of an item of expense.
Receivables and payables in the balance sheet are shown inclusive of GST.
Cash flows are included in the cash flow statement on a gross basis. The GST
component of cash flows arising from investing and financing activities, which is
recoverable from, or payable to, the ATO is classified as operating cash flows.
h.

Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the company has a present obligation
(legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, the company will probably be
required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount
of the obligation.
The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration
required to settle the present obligation at the reporting date, taking into account the
risks and uncertainties surrounding the obligation. Where a provision is measured
using the cash flows estimated to settle the present obligation, its carrying amount
is the present value of those cash flows.
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When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle a provision are
expected to be recovered from a third party, the receivable is recognised as an asset
if it is virtually certain that reimbursement will be received and the amount of the
receivable can be measured reliably.
i.

j.

Intangible assets
Intangible assets with finite lives that are acquired separately are carried at cost
less accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses. Amortisation is
recognised on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives. The estimated
useful life and amortisation method are reviewed at the end of each reporting period,
with the effect of any changes in estimate being accounted for on a prospective basis.
At the end of each reporting period, the company reviews the carrying amounts of
its intangible assets to determine whether there is any indication that those assets
have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable
amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment
loss (if any).
Intangible assets not yet available for use are tested for impairment at least annually,
and whenever there is an indication that the asset may be impaired.
Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of disposal and value in
use. In respect of not-for-profit entities, where the future economic benefits of an
asset are not primarily dependent on the asset’s ability to generate net cash inflows
and value in use cannot be determined. Recoverable amount is therefore determined
by the fair value less costs of disposal which is determined by the current
depreciated replacement cost being the price that would be received for the asset
based on the cost to a market participant buyer to acquire or construct a substitute
asset of comparable utility, adjusted for obsolescence.
If the recoverable amount of an asset is estimated to be less than its carrying
amount, the carrying amount of the asset is reduced to its recoverable amount.
An impairment loss is recognised immediately in surplus or deficit.
When an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset
is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the
increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have
been determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years.
A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised immediately in surplus or deficit.
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Critical accounting estimates and judgements
In the application of the company’s accounting policies, management is required
to make judgments, estimates and assumptions about carrying values of assets
and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and
associated assumptions are based on historical experience and various other factors
that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstance, the results of which form
the basis of making the judgments. Actual results may differ from these estimates.
The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis.
Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate
is revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the period of the revision and
future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods.

k.

Adoption of new and revised Accounting Standards
New and revised AASBs affecting amounts reported and/or disclosures
in the financial statements
In the current year the Catholic Education Commission of Victoria has adopted
all of the new and revised Standards and Interpretations issued by the Australian
Accounting Standards Board (the AASB) that are relevant to its operations and
effective for an accounting period that begins on or after 1 January 2019.
AASB 1058 Income of Not-for-Profit Entities and AASB 15 Revenue from
Contracts with Customers
In the current year, the Catholic Education Commission of Victoria has applied
AASB 1058 Income of Not-for-Profit Entities and AASB 15 Revenue from Contracts
with Customers which are effective for an annual period that begins on or after
1 January 2019.
The Catholic Education Commission of Victoria has applied AASB 1058 and
AASB 15 in accordance with the modified retrospective (cumulative catch up)
method where the comparative figures are not restated. Instead, the company has
recognised the cumulative effect of initially applying AASB 1058 and AASB 15 for
the first time for the year ending 31 December 2019 against retained earnings as at
1 January 2019. The Catholic Education Commission of Victoria has also elected to
apply AASB 1058 and AASB 15 retrospectively only to contracts and transactions
that are not ‘completed contracts’ as at 1 January 2019.
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AASB 1058 clarifies and simplifies the income recognition requirements that apply
to not-for-profit (NFP) entities, in conjunction with AASB 15. The new income
recognition requirements shift the focus from a reciprocal/non-reciprocal basis
to a basis of assessment that considers the enforceability of a contract and the
specificity of performance obligations.

Standards and Interpretations in issue not yet adopted
At the date of authorisation of the financial statements, the Standards and
Interpretations listed below were in issue but not yet effective.

The core principle of the new income recognition requirements in AASB 1058 is
when a NFP entity enters into transactions where the consideration to acquire an
asset is significantly less than the fair value of the asset principally to enable the
entity to further its objectives, the excess of the asset recognised (at fair value)
over any ‘related amounts’ is recognised as income immediately.

Standard/Interpretation
AASB 2019-4 Amendments to
Australian Accounting Standards
– Disclosure in Special Purpose
Financial Statements of Not-forProfit Private Sector Entities on
Compliance with Recognition and
Measurement Requirements

An example of a ‘related amount’ is AASB 15 and in cases where there is an
‘enforceable’ contract with a customer with ‘sufficiently specific’ performance
obligations, income is recognised when (or as) the performance obligations are satisfied
under AASB 15, as opposed to immediate income recognition under AASB 1058.
Under AASB 15, an entity recognises revenue when (or as) a performance obligation
is satisfied, i.e. when ‘control’ of the goods or services underlying the particular
performance obligation is transferred to the customer. AASB 15 introduces a fivestep approach to revenue recognition, which is more prescriptive than AASB 118.
• Step 1: Identify the contract(s) with a customer.
• Step 2: Identify the performance obligations in the contract.
• Step 3: Determine the transaction price.
• Step 4: Allocate the transaction price to the performance obligations in the contract.
• Step 5: Recognise revenue when (or as) the entity satisfies a performance obligation.
AASB 16 Leases
AASB 16 introduces new or amended requirements with respect to lease
accounting. It introduces significant changes to lessee accounting by removing the
distinction between operating and finance lease and requiring the recognition of a
right-of-use asset and a lease liability at commencement for all leases, except for
short-term leases and leases of low value assets. The impact of the adoption of
AASB 16 is described below.
The date of initial application of AASB 16 for the company is 1 January 2019.

Effective for annual
Expected to be
reporting periods initially applied in the
beginning on or after financial year ending
1 January 2020

31 December 2020

The company does not expect any material impact with the application of the
new standards.
l.

Retained earnings policy
On 24 April 2007, it was agreed the company would distribute its excess
accumulated funds to diocesan Catholic education offices. The methodology
was that annual distributions to diocesan Catholic education offices from excess
accumulated funds be based on the amount that exceeds the minimum level of
accumulated funds (retained earnings) being 0.1 percent (%) of its total income.
The variation to this policy for 2013 was due to the receipt of reward payments
from the Australian and State governments, which had been largely committed
to the Integrated Catholic Online Network (ICON) as set out in Note 5 to the
accounts. The ICON reserve is $22.6M as at 31 December 2019. The reserve has
been created as a transfer from accumulated funds (between equity accounts as
these reward funds received have already been recognised as income through
the statement of comprehensive income). This is as per CECV Board approval to
ensure that these funds are identified and committed for this purpose. For the year
ended 31 December 2019, no funds (2018: $300,000) were distributed to diocesan
Catholic education offices under this policy from current year receipts.

There are no leases currently in place for the company, and therefore this new accounting
standard has not had a material impact on the company’s financial statements.
New and revised Standards and amendments thereof and Interpretations effective for
the current year that are relevant to Catholic Education Commission of Victoria include:
CECV Annual Report 2019
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m. Net current asset deficiency
The company had a deficiency in net current assets of $7,091,855 (2018: deficit
of $6,826,172). The company continues to undertake the ICON project, which is
funded by the levies charged to the schools. The deficiency will be addressed
through the retention of funds from future ICON levies. The directors are satisfied
that the CECV can meet its liabilities through the normal cyclical nature of grant
funding received.

4. Expenses
a.

Distribution to schools
Catholic Education Melbourne

3. Income
Financial year ended Financial year ended
31 December 2019
31 December 2018
$

$

Grant income – Australian
Government recurrent

2,047,074,042

1,926,427,732

Grant income – Australian
Government targeted

10,206,140

9,855,534

2,057,280,182

1,936,283,266

Grant income – State
Government recurrent

499,177,146

476,911,214

Grant income – State
Government targeted

14,279,012

13,280,906

513,456,158

490,192,120

Total government grant income

2,570,736,340

2,426,475,386

110,414,644

115,423,894

Interest income from bank deposits

4,059,141

4,054,558

Other income and cost recoveries

3,536,567

3,671,934

2,688,746,692

2,549,625,772

School levies

Expenses by nature
Financial year ended Financial year ended
31 December 2019 31 December 2018
$
$
1,772,825,343

1,678,099,385

Catholic Education Office Ballarat

255,678,185

240,261,646

Catholic Education Office Sandhurst

259,085,772

242,013,782

Catholic Education Office Sale

251,796,769

235,103,872

2,539,386,069

2,395,478,685

40,987,033

37,860,538

Distribution to diocesan education offices
Catholic Education Melbourne
Catholic Education Office Ballarat

9,704,236

9,159,224

Catholic Education Office Sandhurst

9,392,925

9,257,476

10,341,714

11,022,344

70,425,908

67,299,582

Catholic Education Office Sale
Expenses incurred by CECV in relation to schools
Amounts charged by CEM under the SLA

15,673,104

14,600,237

Computer costs

21,152,301

21,328,593

Copyright expenses

4,977,904

5,341,754

Distribution to non-school organisations

1,237,484

1,456,441

Long service leave contribution to Catholic Education

14,011,164

20,745,636

Consultancy fees

10,454,366

12,206,802

Other
Amortisation (ICON)

2,222,590

2,530,638

69,728,913

78,210,101

3,859,817

3,749,833

CECV operations expenses
Auditors’ remuneration*
Amounts charged by CEM under the SLA

97,700

68,300

4,892,348

4,673,415

Computer costs

299,193

97,399

Consultancy fees

135,314

199,195

3,266,898

2,934,466

Other
Total expenses

8,691,453

7,972,775

2,692,092,160

2,552,710,976

*the auditor of the CECV is Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
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Direct distributions to schools from grant income in 2019 was $2,539,386,069
(2018: $2,395,478,685) which equates to 98.8% of government grant income being
distributed (2018: 98.7%). Overall in 2019, 99.3% (2018: 99.3%) of government grant
income was directly distributed to schools, or expended on their behalf by the CECV.

c.

Distributions to diocesan education offices by source
Financial year
Financial year
ended 31
ended 31
December 2019 December 2018

b. Distribution to schools
Financial year ended Financial year ended
31 December 2019
31 December 2018
Australian Government
State Government
Recurrent grants
Targeted programs

$

$

2,065,257,511

1,956,275,991

474,128,558

439,202,694

2,539,386,069

2,395,478,685

2,528,557,110

2,385,951,889

10,828,959

9,526,796

2,539,386,069

2,395,478,685

Australian Government
State Government
Other [refer to Note 2(l)]
Recurrent grants
Targeted programs
Other [refer to Note 2(l)]

$

$

63,507,846

61,364,801

6,053,997

5,934,781

–

–

69,561,843

67,299,582

63,507,846

61,364,801

6,053,997

5,934,781

–

–

69,561,843

67,299,582

5. ICON reserves

The purpose of the Integrated Catholic Online Network (ICON) is set out in the executive
mandate of the project, which is a commitment of $150M over eight years from various
funding sources. The ICON initiative is a collaborative program of the Catholic Education
Commission of Victoria Ltd (CECV) involving Victorian Catholic schools and the four
Victorian Catholic education offices in the Archdiocese of Melbourne and the dioceses
of Ballarat, Sale and Sandhurst. ICON aims to support the systemic improvement of all
Victorian Catholic schools.
ICON will provide enterprise technologies, processes and services for all schools’
learning, collaboration, administration, planning and reporting, and portal services
that will evolve and grow over time. ICON will be a single, flexible, centrally-managed
platform, provided as a service to all schools and Catholic education offices, to simplify
and raise the bar with significant improvement of technology and related services.
It will support collaboration and the connectedness of all Catholic education staff,
parents and students, and provide a common platform on which best practice can be
shared. ICON will be built as a consistent collection of evolving products to meet the
current and emerging software needs of schools, using best-of-breed providers.
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ICON will also be built as a platform on which additional systems can be connected.
Driven by school practitioners and experts, ICON will be extended to provide further
learning opportunities using emerging technologies and more sophisticated school
administration tools.
ICON is at its core, a transformation enabling program. ICON will support school leaders,
teachers and staff to transform business processes and implement new operating paradigms
to enhance student learning and make school administrative processes more efficient.
ICON will provide an integrated platform comprising five functional areas; Portals,
ePlan, eLearn, eAdmin and Technology: Integration and Identity. Effective systems
(incorporating new processes) and training (supporting new skills) will be used for each
functional area ensuring Victorian Catholic schools can provide more comprehensive
and sophisticated services to support teaching and learning and to make school
administration more streamlined.
The ICON reserve is $22.6M as at 31 December 2019. The reserve has been created
as a transfer from accumulated funds (between equity accounts as these reward
funds received have already been recognised as income through the statement of
comprehensive income) This is as per CECV Board approval to ensure that these funds
are identified and committed for this purpose.

6. Notes to the cash flow statement
a.

Reconciliation of cash and cash equivalents
For the purposes of the cash flow statement, cash and cash equivalents includes cash
on hand and in banks and investments in money market instruments. Cash and cash
equivalents at the end of the financial year ended 31 December as shown in the cash
flow statement is reconciled to the related items in the balance sheet as follows:
Financial year ended Financial year ended
31 December 2019
31 December 2018
Cash and cash equivalents

$

$

1,507,416

839,922

b. Reconciliation of the surplus for the year to net cash flows from
operating activities
Financial year ended
31 December 2019

Financial year ended
31 December 2018

$

$

(3,345,468)

(3,085,204)

3,859,817

3,749,833

(78,172)

185,587

Increase in prepayments

(2,531,481)

(601,200)

Increase in creditors and
accrued expenses

3,542,831

(304,742)

Net cash from operations

1,447,527

(55,726)

Deficit for the year
Amortisation
Changes in assets and liabilities
Increase in receivables and
other assets

c.

Non-cash investing and financing activities
CECV Ltd has not organised for any financing facilities to be available to the company.

7. Receivables and other assets
a.

Receivables

Financial year ended Financial year ended
31 December 2019
31 December 2018
Receivables
GST receivable

$

$

77,054

22,726

356,305

332,461

433,359

355,187

Receivables are normally settled on 30-day terms.
b. Prepayments
Financial year ended Financial year ended
31 December 2019
31 December 2018
Prepayments

CECV Annual Report 2019
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$

3,754,262

1,222,780
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8. Intangible assets

Software and intangible assets
The CECV Board approved and adopted a ‘Software and Intangibles’ accounting policy
which applies from 1 September 2012 to software held by the Catholic Education
Commission Victoria Limited (CECV). When accounting for software, the CECV is required
to follow the relevant Australian Equivalents to International Financial Reporting Standards
(AIFRS). Consequently, the policy is to be read in conjunction with the following:
• AASB 138 Intangible Assets
•

AASB 136 Impairment of Assets.

The accounting policies are to be read in conjunction with the applicable AIFRS.
The policies provide additional specific accounting principles and guidance over and
above those contained in the AIFRS, both of which are to be applied by the CECV,
who prepare general purpose financial reports.
AASB 138 paragraph 8 defines an intangible asset as ‘an identifiable non-monetary
asset without physical substance’. An intangible asset for the CECV will mainly comprise
of computer software. The software may be developed in-house by the CECV or
purchased ‘off-the-shelf’.
Most of the CECV’s proposed software development is large application software,
which should be classified as an intangible asset rather than property, plant and equipment
as application software is generally not integral to the operation of a computer.

Cost

Plant & Equipment
– ICON Computers

WIP ICON
System

ICON
System

Total

$

$

$

$

–

3,370,188

33,652,753

37,022,941

14,460

–

–

14,460

Balance as at
1 January 2018
Additions
Transfers

–

(2,814,748)

2,814,748

–

Amortisation

(3,213)

–

(3,746,620)

(3,749,833)

Balance as at
31 December 2018

11,247

555,440

32,720,881

33,287,568

Balance as at
1 January 2019

11,247

555,440

32,720,881

33,287,568

Additions

–

780,032

–

780,032

Transfers

–

(82,973)

82,973

–

(4,820)

–

(3,854,997)

(3,859,817)

6,427

1,252,499

28,948,856

30,207,783

Amortisation
Balance as at
31 December 2019

The following useful lives are used in the calculation of amortisation:
ICON system: 10 years
ICON computers: 3 years.
Significant intangible assets
The company holds capital expenditure in relation to the Integrated Catholic Online
Network (ICON) project. Amortisation of intangible assets commences when the assets
have been fully commissioned for use.

9. Creditors and accrued expenses
Financial year ended Financial year ended
31 December 2019
31 December 2018
$
$
Trade creditors
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3,673,513

1,149,123

Amounts owed to other related parties

5,157,489

5,202,674

Accrued expenses

3,955,891

2,892,264

12,786,892

9,244,061
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Amounts are payable to various trade creditors of the company. All transactions with
these suppliers have been conducted at arm’s length, and are subject to the usual credit
and repayment terms. Trade creditors are normally settled on 30-day terms.
Accrued expenses and other non-trade payables are subject to the usual credit and
repayment terms. All transactions were conducted at arm’s length and have usual terms
of 30 days.
For terms and conditions relating to amounts owed to other related parties, refer to Note 13.

10. Distributions payable

There were no undistributed grant funds at the reporting date (2018: Nil).

11. Commitments and contingencies

There were no lease commitments or other known legal claims or guarantees in place at
the reporting date.
In 2019, there were three contracted capital commitments concerning the ICON project:
• TechOne contract was entered into on 30 September 2013
•

Synergetic contract was entered into on 23 September 2013

•

Infosys contract was entered into 28 April 2014.

Expense Commitments
Less than 12 months
Between 1–5 years
More than 5 years

12. Financial instruments
a.

TechOne
Contract

Synergetic
Contract

Infosys
Contract

Total

$

$

$

$

1,025,088

3,827,339

842,984

5,695,411

–

828,000

–

828,000

–

–

–

–

1,025,088

4,655,339

842,984

6,523,411

Capital and financial risk management objectives, processes and policies
As a company limited by guarantee, CECV Ltd does not have any true ‘capital’ to
manage. The company does not have any borrowings. Its principal activity is the
receipt of grant monies, which are allocated and distributed to schools and the
diocesan education offices. Capital growth is not an objective of the company as it is
a not-for-profit entity and grant monies do not remain in the control of the company
for any extended period. The security of the funds received is essential to CECV Ltd,
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as these monies have to be paid out. Accordingly, grant monies are generally held
by CECV Ltd in the form of cash and cash equivalents with the company’s banker.
Grant monies received by CECV Ltd are disclosed separately in the income statement.
As the majority of its financial instruments are in the form of cash and cash
equivalents, the company is exposed mainly to interest rate risk as monies are
held in a bank account, returning a variable rate of interest. Other than its cash
and cash equivalents, no financial assets or financial liabilities are interest-bearing.
During the current reporting period, the weighted average interest rate earned on
cash and cash equivalents was 1.58% per annum (2018: 2.14%). Because monies
are not held for any significant period, and as CECV Ltd does not have as one of
its objectives capital growth, the company does not actively manage its interest
rate risk exposure and accordingly, funds are subject to fluctuations in the variable
interest rate. A substantial part of grant monies is received in three tranches during
the calendar year. Consequently, the balance in the bank account will fluctuate as
grants are received and distributed. Further details about the company’s sensitivity
to interest rates are described below.
CECV Ltd does not have significant credit risk exposure. The company deals only
with creditworthy entities and its receivables at the reporting date are with related
entities. Receivables are due to the company from parties related to CECV Ltd by
virtue of their relationship with the Catholic Church.
CECV Ltd does not have any significant exposure to liquidity risk as its principal
activity is the receipt and redistribution of grant monies. It is not committed to
distributing funds that it has not received. The company is entitled to utilise a
percentage of recurrent grant monies received for its operating expenses.
There has been no change to the company’s exposure to market risks and other
risks or how it manages and measures the risk.
b. Significant accounting policies and categories of financial instruments
Details of the significant accounting policies and methods adopted, including the
criteria for recognition, the basis of measurement and the basis on which income
and expenses are recognised in respect of each class of financial asset and financial
liability are disclosed in Note 2 to the financial statements.

Page 51

1 | Company Members & Directors

2 | Chair’s Report

3 | Committee Reports

4 | School Achievement

5 | Awards

6 | Financial Statements

7 | Appendices

8 | Abbreviations

6 | Financial Statements

CECV Ltd classifies its financial assets and financial liabilities (other than provisions)
into two categories: loans and receivables at amortised cost and financial liabilities
at amortised cost. The totals of these categories are disclosed below:
Financial year ended Financial year ended
31 December 2019
31 December 2018
Loans and receivables at
amortised cost
Financial liabilities at amortised cost
c.

$

$

433,359

355,187

12,786,892

9,244,061

Fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities
Other than cash and cash equivalents, CECV Ltd’s financial assets and financial
liabilities consist of receivables, creditors and accrued expenses. The directors
consider that the carrying amounts of these financial assets and financial liabilities,
which are recorded at amortised cost in the financial statements, approximates their
fair values.

d. Interest rate sensitivity
The directors do not believe that any sensitivity analysis is representative of
the interest rate risk inherent in the cash and cash equivalents balance, as the
company’s cash balances can fluctuate significantly during the year.

13. Related party disclosures
a.

Key management personnel
There is currently no key management personnel remunerated directly by the CECV,
as the company has a Service Level Agreement with Catholic Education Melbourne
to provide administration and back office services.

b. Other related party transactions
Transactions and balances with key management personnel CECV Ltd

the company would have accepted if dealing at arm’s length with an unrelated person.
Transactions and balances with Catholic Education Melbourne
Catholic Education Melbourne charges CECV Ltd one annual management fee
through a Service Level Agreement, to be paid in two instalments each year, for all
services performed on its behalf.
The annual fee will be negotiated each year and approved as part of the CECV Ltd
and Catholic Education Melbourne budget processes. The Service Level Agreement
(SLA) is reviewed annually by a Board-appointed non-Catholic Education Melbourne
Executive Director and then reported to the CECV Audit and Risk Committee,
who then reviews and advises the CECV for its approval.
The total amount of monies paid to Catholic Education Melbourne during the current
year was $21,384,103 (2018: $20,381,190). Included in this amount is $20,565,452
for amounts charged by CEM under the SLA and $818,651 relating to hardware
rental charges. Related party transactions also include levies collected and expenses
paid on behalf of CECV Ltd by Catholic Education Melbourne.
The amount owed by CECV Ltd to Catholic Education Melbourne as at reporting
date is $4,293,733 (2018: payable $5,202,674).
Grant distributions made to Catholic Education Melbourne in 2019 and disclosed in
Note 4 of the financial report total $40,987,033 (2018: $37,860,538).
Transactions and balances with other related parties
CECV Ltd contributes monies to the Catholic Education Long Service Leave
Scheme on behalf of participating employers. During the financial year, the company
contributed a total of $14,011,164 (2018: $20,745,636) into the Scheme on behalf
of primary schools.
The amount owed to the Scheme as at reporting date is Nil (2018: $Nil).
Grant distributions made to the Ballarat, Sandhurst and Sale Catholic education
offices are disclosed in Note 4 of the financial report.

A number of the directors hold positions in a diocese and schools that result in them
having control and significant influence over the financial and operating policies of these
entities. These schools receive allocations of grant monies from CECV Ltd that are no
more favourable than those received by other systemic Victorian Catholic schools.
Transactions with (apart from the amounts disclosed under Note 13(a)) and amounts
receivable from or payable to key management personnel (including their related parties)
are on terms and conditions no more favourable than those it is reasonable to expect
CECV Annual Report 2019
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14. Economic dependency

Financial year ended 31 December 2019

The company also has the following related parties transactions as payments:
Outstanding
amount

Name of related party

Transactions

$

$

Australian Catholic Bishops Conference (ACBC)1

–

835,876

Catholic Church Insurance2

–

1,258,606

–

1,890

–

34,304

–

–

Fraynework Multimedia3
National Catholic Education Commission (NCEC)
Roman Catholic Trusts Corporation (RCTC)

4

5

The transactions relate to the levy collected by the CECV that is passed through the ACBC to the NCEC.
2
The transactions relate to SchoolCare ($1,188,166), Directors and Officers Liability ($28,195), Professional
Indemnity ($6,651), Public Liability ($3,108), Statutory Liability ($5,236), Fidelity Guarantee ($7,359),
Composite Risks Property ($5,451), and Cyber Insurance ($14,440).
1

3

The transactions relate to costs incurred for Video Animation productions.

The majority of these transactions with NCEC relate to legal fees.
The majority of these transactions with the RCTC (Archdiocese of Melbourne) relate to the
School Portion NATSIC Levy.
4
5

Financial year ended 31 December 2018

The company depends on Australian and Victorian state government funding in the form
of recurrent grants for its continuing operation. Grants are only committed to schools
when the funding has been approved by the Australian and Victorian state governments.

15. Subsequent events

Subsequent to the end of the financial year there have been considerable economic
impacts in Australia and globally arising from the outbreak of the COVID-19 virus and the
respective government actions to reduce the spread of the virus.
On 30 January 2020, the spread of novel coronavirus (COVID-19) was declared a Public
Health Emergency of International Concern by the World Health Organisation (WHO).
Subsequently, on 11 March 2020, WHO characterised COVID-19 as a pandemic.
The company believes this event constitutes a ‘Non-Adjusting Subsequent Event’ as
defined by AASB 110 Events after the Reporting Period and therefore no financial effects
arising from the economic impacts of the virus have been included in the financial results
for the year ended 31 December 2019.
There have been no other transactions or events of a material and unusual nature
between the end of the reporting period and the date of the report likely, in the opinion
of the directors of the company, to affect significantly the operations of the entity,
the results of those operations, or state of affairs of the entity in future years.

The company also has the following related parties transactions as payments:
Name of related party

Outstanding
amount

Transactions

$

$

–

815,680

Catholic Church Insurance2

–

613,953

Fraynework Multimedia

Australian Catholic Bishops Conference (ACBC)

1

–

52,535

National Catholic Education Commission (NCEC)4

–

56,291

Roman Catholic Trusts Corporation (RCTC)

–

16,550

3

5

The transactions relate to the levy collected by the CECV that is passed through the ACBC to the NCEC.
2
The transactions relate to SchoolCare ($592,318), Directors and Officers Liability ($9,687), Professional
Indemnity ($3,570), Public Liability ($1,640), Statutory Liability ($2,811), Fidelity Guarantee ($3,927).
3
The transactions relate to costs incurred for Video Animation productions.
4
The majority of these transactions with NCEC relate to legal fees.
5
The majority of these transactions with the RCTC (Archdiocese of Melbourne) relate to the
School Portion NATSIC Levy.
1
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Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
ABN 74 490 121 060
477 Collins Street
Melbourne VIC 3000
GPO Box 78
Melbourne VIC 3001 Australia
DX: 111
Tel: +61 (0) 3 9671 7000
Fax: +61 (0) 3 9671 7001
www.deloitte.com.au

Independent Auditor’s Report
to the Members of Catholic Education Commission of
Victoria Limited

Director’s Responsibilities for the Financial Report
The Directors are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial report in
accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and the ACNC Act and for such internal control as
the Directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation and fair presentation of the financial
report and is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
In preparing the financial report, the Directors are responsible for assessing the Entity’s ability to
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using
the going concern basis of accounting unless the Directors either intend to liquidate the Entity or to
cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report

Opinion
We have audited the accompanying financial report of Catholic Education Commission of Victoria
Limited (the “Entity”), which comprises the statement of financial position as at 31 December 2019,
the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the statement of cash flows and
the statement of changes in equity for the year ended on that date, notes comprising a summary of
significant accounting policies and other explanatory information, and the Director’s declaration.
In our opinion, the accompanying financial report of Catholic Education Commission Victoria
Limited is in accordance with Division 60 of the Australia Charities and Not-for-profits Commission
Act 2012 (the ACNC Act), including:
(a) giving a true and fair view of the Entity’s financial position as at 31 December 2019 and of
its financial performance for the year ended on that date; and

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial report as a whole is
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that
an audit conducted in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of this financial report.
As part of an audit in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:
•

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial report, whether due
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain
audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk
of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

•

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing
an opinion on the effectiveness of the Entity’s internal control.

•

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the Directors.

•

Conclude on the appropriateness of the Director’s use of the going concern basis of
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Entity’s ability to
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are
required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial
report or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future
events or conditions may cause the Entity to cease to continue as a going concern.

•

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial report, including the
disclosures, and whether the financial report represents the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

(b) complying with Australian Accounting Standards and Division 60 of the Australian Charities
and Not-for-profits Commission Regulation 2013.
Basis for Opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial
Report section of our report. We are independent of the Entity in accordance with the ethical
requirements of the Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards Board’s APES 110 Code of Ethics
for Professional Accountants (the Code) that are relevant to our audit of the financial report in
Australia. We have also fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis
for our opinion.
Other Information
The Directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the
Directors’ report, but does not include the financial report and our auditor’s report thereon.
Our opinion on the financial report does not cover the other information and we do not express any
form of assurance conclusion thereon.
In connection with our audit of the financial report, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial
report or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If,
based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this
other information; we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards legislation
Member of Deloitte Asia Pacific Limited and the Deloitte Network
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We communicate with the Directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing
of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control
that we identify during our audit.

DELOITTE TOUCHE TOHMATSU

Peter Glynn
Partner
Chartered Accountants
Melbourne, 16 June 2020
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Appendix: School and Student Statistics
Enrolments

In 2019 there were 396 primary, 96 secondary and 5 special schools providing Catholic
education to 209,952 students across Victoria. A breakdown of these enrolments is shown
in Table 2. A breakdown of full-time equivalent (FTE) enrolment percentages by diocese is
shown in Figure 6.

Figure 6: FTE enrolment
percentage breakdown by
diocese for Victorian Catholic
schools (DET February
Census 2019)

Table 2: Enrolments (FTE) in Victorian Catholic schools (February 2019 and February 2018)
Female

Male

Total 2018 figure

Change

Archdiocese
of Melbourne
73.1%

Regular schools
Primary classes

55,388

56,992

112,380

112,493

–113

Secondary classes

49,324

47,731

97,055

96,337

718

104,712

104,723

209,435

208,830

605

40

80

120

98

22

Total regular
Special schools
Primary classes
Secondary classes

162

235

397

457

–60

Total special

202

315

517

555

–38

All schools
Primary classes

55,428

57,072

112,500

112,591

–91

Secondary classes

49,486

47,966

97,452

96,794

658

104,914

105,038

209,952

209,385

567

Total all schools

Source: Catholic Information Service (May 2020)
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Diocese of Ballarat
8.70%
Diocese of Sandhurst
9.0%
Diocese of Sale
9.2%

A breakdown of the composition of Year 7 is shown in Figure 7. Catholic primary schools
accounted for 67.5% of Year 7 enrolments in Catholic schools.

Figure 7: Year 7 enrolment
breakdown by student sector
origin 2019 (DET February
Census 2019)
Non-Catholic schools
32.5%
Catholic schools
67.5%
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Sector share of enrolments in Victoria

Across all sectors in Victoria, Catholic schools accounted for 20.3% of primary and 23.2%
of secondary enrolments, as represented in Figures 8 and 9.

Figure 8: Sector share of
FTE enrolments in Victorian
primary schools (DET
February Census 2019)

Staff in Catholic schools

Catholic schools in Victoria were supported by 15,752.1 FTE teachers and 6,672.0
FTE non-teaching staff as depicted in Table 3.
Table 3: FTE staff in Victorian Catholic schools (August 2019)
Female

Total

2018 figure

Change

Teaching staff

Independent schools
11.2%

Primary

6229.5

1237.5

7467.0

7350.6

116.4

Secondary

4981.7

3211.0

8192.7

8036.5

156.2

11211.2

4448.5

15659.7

15387.1

272.6

61.4

31.0

92.4

84.7

7.7

11272.6

4479.5

15752.1

15471.8

280.3

Primary

2394.2

200.4

2594.6

2292.7

301.9

Secondary

2754.8

1227.1

3981.9

3719.2

262.7

Total regular

5149.0

1427.5

6576.5

6011.9

564.6

Government schools
68.5%

Regular schools

Total regular
Special schools
Total special
Total all schools

Figure 9: Sector share of
FTE enrolments in Victorian
secondary schools (DET
February Census 2019)

Male

Catholic schools
20.3%

Catholic schools
23.2%
Independent schools
20.0%

Non-teaching staff
Regular schools

Special schools

Government schools
56.8%
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Total special
Total all schools

64.0

31.5

95.5

75.1

20.4

5213.0

1459.0

6672.0

6087.0

585.0

Source: DET August Census 2019
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AASB

Australian Accounting Standards Board

EMV

Emergency Management Victoria

SAL

Student Activity Locator

ACARA

Australian Curriculum, Assessment and
Reporting Authority

EMWP

Emergency Management Working Party

SCB

Salary and Conditions Board

ACBC

Australian Catholic Bishops Conference

ERC

Employment Relations Committee

SES

Socioeconomic status

ACNC

Australian Charities and Not-for-profits
Commission

FSA

Funding and Service Agreements

SLA

Service Level Agreement

FTE

Full-time equivalent

SRS

School Resourcing Standards

AIFRS

Australian Equivalents to International
Financial Reporting Standards

GAC(P)

Grants Allocation Committee (Primary)

SWD

Students with disability

GAC(S)

Grants Allocation Committee (Secondary)

TAFE

Technical and Further Education

GAC(TA)

Grants Allocation Committee (Targeted Areas)

VACPSP

GST

Goods and services tax

Victorian Association
of Catholic Primary School Principals

ICON

Integrated Catholic Online Network

VCAA

Victorian Curriculum and Assessment Authority

Katholieke Universiteit (Catholic University) of
Leuven

VCAL

Victorian Certificate of Applied Learning

VCE

Victorian Certificate of Education

AM

Award of Member of the Order of Australia

ARC

Audit and Risk Committee

ATO

Australian Taxation Office

CECV

Catholic Education Commission of Victoria Ltd

CEO

Catholic Education Office

KU
Leuven

CEM

Catholic Education Melbourne

MoU

Memorandum of Understanding

VCEMEA

CEVN

Catholic Education Victoria Network

NAPLAN

CFO

Chief Financial Officer

National Assessment Program
– Literacy and Numeracy

Victorian Catholic Education
Multi Enterprise Agreement 2018

VET

Vocational Education and Training

DET

Victorian Department of Education and Training

NCEC

National Catholic Education Commission

VRQA

DOSCEL

Diocese of Sale Catholic Education Limited

OAM

Medal of the Order of Australia

Victorian Registrations
and Qualifications Authority

eAdmin

Administration System incorporating HR/
Payroll (eHR), Finance (eFin) and Student
Information System (SIS)

OHS

Occupational health and safety

PAVCSS

Principals’ Association
of Victorian Catholic Secondary Schools

ECSI

Enhancing Catholic School Identity

RBC

Review Body Committee

EMD

Victorian Department of Education and
Training, Emergency Management Division

RCTC

Roman Catholic Trusts Corporation

RE

Religious Education
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